Eustigmatophyceae

11

Marek Eliáš, Raquel Amaral, Karen P. Fawley, Marvin W. Fawley, Yvonne Němcová, Jiří Neustupa, Pavel Přibyl, Lilia M. A. Santos, and Tereza Ševčíková

Abstract

Eustigmatophyceae (eustigmatophytes) are a distinct lineage of ochrophyte (stramenopile) algae with a relatively small number (\sim 30) of described species, but with evidence for a substantial taxonomic diversity yet to be explored. Eustigmatophytes are all unicellular coccoid algae, usually spherical or ovoid, but sometimes with a more distinctive shape (e.g., stipitate, tetrahedral, or with branched projections). Most eustigmatophytes live in freshwater, but some are common in terrestrial habitats and one subgroup is mostly marine. Reproduction

R. Amaral • L.M.A. Santos Coimbra Collection of Algae (ACOI), Department of Life Sciences, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal e-mail: raquel.amaral@bot.uc.pt; rf.amaral@gmail.com; liliamas@ci.uc.pt

K.P. Fawley • M.W. Fawley School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences, University of Arkansas at Monticello (UAM), Monticello, AR, USA e-mail: fawley@uamont.edu; fawleym@uamont.edu

Y. Němcová • J. Neustupa

P. Přibyl

M. Eliáš (🖂) • T. Ševčíková

Department of Biology and Ecology and Institute of Environmental Technologies, Faculty of Science, University of Ostrava, Ostrava, Czech Republic e-mail: marek.elias@osu.cz; t.sevcikova1@gmail.com

Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Prague, Czech Republic e-mail: yvonne.nemcova@natur.cuni.cz; jiri.neustupa@natur.cuni.cz; neustupa@math.cas.cz

Centre for Algology and Biorefinery Research Centre of Competence, Institute of Botany, Czech Academy of Sciences, Třeboň, Czech Republic e-mail: pavel.pribyl@ibot.cas.cz

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 J.M. Archibald et al. (eds.), *Handbook of the Protists*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-28149-0_39

occurs primarily via autosporogenesis, but many members of this class form zoospores with an anterior mastigoneme-bearing flagellum and a (sometimes missing) posterior bare flagellum. Sexual reproduction has not been directly observed, but genomic evidence suggests its presence in some species. Eustigmatophytes are distinguished from other ochrophytes by a suite of cytological features (not all are necessarily present in all taxa): a pigmented lipidic body (reddish globule), a swelling at the base of the anterior flagellum associated with an extraplastidial stigma (eyespot), lamellate vesicles (with a putative reserve product), and plastids without a girdle lamella and lacking continuity with the nuclear envelope. Also characteristic is the lack of chlorophyll c and violaxanthin as the dominant xanthophyll. Because of their tendency to accumulate large amounts of lipids, including polyunsaturated fatty acids, eustigmatophytes are extensively used for biotechnology applications. The potential for commercial use has sparked a renewed interest in the basic biology of Eustigmatophyceae, including initiation of genome sequencing projects, although attention remains highly biased toward a single lineage comprising the genera Nannochloropsis and Microchloropsis.

Keywords

Algae • Biofuels • Genomics • PUFAs • Eustigmatophyceae • Molecular phylogenetics • *Nannochloropsis* • Ochrophyta • Stramenopiles • Taxonomy

Contents

Summary Classification	369		
Introduction	369		
General Characteristics	369		
Occurrence	369		
Literature	370		
History of Knowledge	370		
Practical Importance	371		
Habitats and Ecology	372		
Characterization and Recognition	374		
General Appearance	374		
Vegetative Cell Structure	375		
Zoospore Structure	378		
Reproduction and Life Cycle	380		
Genomics, Molecular Biology, and Biochemistry	380		
Systematics	388		
Order Eustigmatales	389		
Clade Goniochloridales	391		
Eustigmatophyceae Incertae sedis	393		
Additional Eustigmatophytes	393		
Maintenance and Cultivation	395		
Evolutionary History			
References			

Summary Classification

- Eustigmatophyceae
- Eustigmatales
- •••Eustigmataceae group (Eustigmatos, Vischeria, Chlorobotrys, Pseudocharaciopsis)
- Monodopsidaceae (Monodopsis, Pseudotetraëdriella, Nannochloropsis, Microchloropsis)
- •••Pseudellipsoidion group (Pseudellipsoidion, "Pseudocharaciopsis" ovalis)
- Goniochloridales (Goniochloris, Pseudostaurastrum, Trachydiscus minutus, Vacuoliviride, Tetraëdriella subglobosa)
- ••Eustigmatophyceae incertae sedis (Botryochloropsis)

Introduction

General Characteristics

Eustigmatophytes are a distinct group of ochrophyte (heterokont or stramenopile) algae. In the vegetative state, these organisms appear as solitary green or yellow-green coccoid cells or less frequently in loose colonies, with primarily autosporic reproduction. They may resemble some xanthophyte or chlorophyte algae but differ by a unique combination of ultrastructural and biochemical characteristics. A conspicuous characteristic of most eustigmatophyte vegetative cells is a cytoplasmic reddish globule consisting of unknown lipidic substances. Eustigmatophyte plastids lack a girdle lamella. The outer plastid membrane, a cisterna of the plastid endoplasmic reticulum, is typically not continuous with the nuclear envelope; however, this connection has been preserved in some species. Vegetative cells as well as zoospores possess vesicles containing a probable reserve material deposited in a lamellar pattern. Zoospores occasionally form in many species and bear one or two subapical flagella. One longer flagellum always has mastigonemes and a characteristic basal swelling. Typically, a red extraplastidial eyespot (stigma) is present at the extreme anterior, although some taxa recently assigned to the class do not possess this feature. Eustigmatophyceae lack chlorophylls b and c. Violaxanthin is the dominant xanthophyll and is involved in both light harvesting and in a photoprotective xanthophyll cycle. The Eustigmatophyceae is usually considered a small class, as only around 30 species in 15 genera have been described. However, recent studies have shown that many additional eustigmatophytes await recognition or description.

Occurrence

Eustigmatophytes thrive worldwide primarily in freshwater and terrestrial habitats, with the exception of the marine and brackish species of the genera *Nannochloropsis*

and *Microchloropsis*. These organisms are generally inconspicuous because of their small size and are rarely a dominant component of the microbial community.

Literature

There is no recent monograph on the group. The works by Hibberd (1980, 1982, 1990) are still useful as summaries of the first phase of modern research on eustigmatophytes. Hibberd (1981) also published a thorough taxonomic revision and a formal classification of eustigmatophytes that is the starting point for current taxonomic and systematic work on the group. Santos (1996) published the most current general review of eustigmatophytes. Useful information on the morphology and ecology of eustigmatophyte species, including identification keys, can be found in algal floras and compendia (Ettl and Gärtner 1995; John 2011; Ott et al. 2015). Many eustigmatophyte species are included in older floristic works as members of the "Heterokonten" or the Xanthophyceae (Pascher 1939; Ettl 1978).

History of Knowledge

The class Eustignatophyceae was established by Hibberd and Leedale (1971) after they investigated 12 genera of coccoid algae from the Xanthophyceae and found unique ultrastructural features (Hibberd and Leedale 1970, 1972). The pigment composition of eustignatophytes was also important in the definition of the new class, because their signature pigments differ significantly from those in xanthophytes (Whittle and Casselton 1969, 1975a, b). The taxonomic revision of eustignatophyte diversity by Hibberd (1981) led to the recognition of 12 species in six genera. Subsequently, the advent of molecular phylogenetic methods confirmed that the Eustignatophyceae is a monophyletic lineage distinct from the Xanthophyceae and all other classes of ochrophytes (Bhattacharya et al. 1992; Karlson et al. 1996; Andersen et al. 1998).

Since the seminal work of Hibberd (1981), knowledge of eustigmatophyte diversity has expanded with the transfer of additional species from the Xanthophyceae (Schnepf et al. 1996; Přibyl et al. 2012; Fawley and Fawley 2017) and the descriptions of new taxa (Lubián 1982; Karlson et al. 1996; Krienitz et al. 2000; Suda et al. 2002; Trzcińska et al. 2014; Fawley et al. 2015), including four new monotypic genera (Preisig and Wilhelm 1989; Neustupa and Němcová 2001; Hegewald et al. 2007; Nakayama et al. 2015). Recent culture-based and environmental DNA cloning studies have shown that the diversity of the Eustigmatophyceae is much greater than previously expected (Fawley et al. 2014). After 2010, research on eustigmatophytes entered a new phase with the determination of the first complete genome sequences and development of tools for targeted genetic manipulation in the representative genus, *Nannochloropsis* (Kilian et al. 2011; Pan et al. 2011; Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014, 2016).

Practical Importance

Eustigmatophytes became the focus of attention and intensive research in recent years due to the potential commercial production of biofuels and bioproducts by some species. Most biotechnology-oriented studies have been performed on the minute marine species of the genus Nannochloropsis (including species belonging to the recently segregated genus *Microchloropsis*; Fawley et al. 2015). There has been exponential growth in the number of research papers published on this topic in recent years (e.g., Zou et al. 2000; Krienitz and Wirth 2006; Li et al. 2011; Simionato et al. 2011; Doan and Obbard 2012; Bartley et al. 2014; Xiao et al. 2015); most of the relevant literature concerning the lipid-related biotechnological research has been reviewed by Ma et al. (2016). Briefly, Nannochloropsis spp. are valued primarily for the ability to produce two types of lipidic substances – neutral lipids, i.e., various forms of triacylglycerol (TAG) and long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs), especially eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). Depending on the cultivation conditions, the intracellular lipid levels in Nannochloropsis spp. may reach up to 55-60% of dry weight biomass and may exhibit elevated content of higher saturated fatty acids, being thus suitable for transesterification to biodiesel. Nannochloropsis spp. have also been extensively investigated for the production of commercially valuable carotenoid pigments (Lubián et al. 2000), sterols (Suen et al. 1987; Volkman et al. 1993; Patterson et al. 1994), and vitamin E (α -tocopherol; Durmaz 2007). Nannochloropsis spp. may also be used as cell reactors for the production of heterologous proteins (Chen et al. 2008) and have long been used as a food source in aquaculture (Duerr et al. 1998; Pfeiffer and Ludwig 2007; Patil et al. 2007; Ferreira et al. 2009).

Industrial use of other genera of the Eustigmatophyceae has been investigated to a lesser extent. *Monodopsis subterranea* (= *Monodus subterraneus*) and *Trachydiscus minutus* both produce large quantities of EPA (Cohen 1994; Hu et al. 1997; Qiang et al. 1997; Lu et al. 2001; Iliev et al. 2010; Řezanka et al. 2010; Cepák et al. 2014; Jo and Hur 2015). Members of the closely related genera *Vischeria* and *Eustigmatos* have also been noted for producing EPA, but also high amounts of β -carotene, and their lipid metabolism also make them promising biofuels producers (Volkman et al. 1999; Li et al. 2012a, b; Aburai et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2013; Gao et al. 2016). Eustigmatophytes in general may also be regarded as promising antioxidant sources, for example, as documented by a recent survey of various strains from the Coimbra Collection of Algae (ACOI; Assunção et al. 2016).

Environmental bioremediation uses may also be envisaged for eustigmatophytes. For example, cells of *Microchloropsis gaditana* (as *Nannochloropsis gaditana*) were reported to accumulate practically 100% of the copper or zinc present in the medium (Moreno-Garrido et al. 2002). The eustigmatophyte strain nak-9, subsequently described as *Vacuoliviride crystalliferum* (Nakayama et al. 2015), was reported to exhibit a high efficiency in eliminating radioactive caesium from the medium by cellular accumulation (Fukuda et al. 2014). Inoculation of rice grown in hydroponic conditions with *Nannochloropsis* sp. ameliorated the impact of arsenic toxicity on plant growth (Upadhyay et al. 2016). Using municipal wastewater as a source of

nutrients for cultivation of *Nannochloropsis* sp. for biotechnological applications was also tested (e.g., Jiang et al. 2011).

Habitats and Ecology

Habitat preferences may differ substantially even within eustigmatophyte lineages and numerous transitions between freshwater and terrestrial habitats seem to have occurred during eustigmatophyte evolution. A transition to the marine environment probably occurred only once, in the lineage leading to an ancestor of the genera *Nannochloropsis* and *Microchloropsis*. An ancestor of the freshwater species *Nannochloropsis limnetica* must then have secondarily transitioned from marine to freshwater habitats (Fawley and Fawley 2007). Little is currently known about possible biogeographical patterns exhibited by eustigmatophyte species.

Members of the closely related genera *Vischeria* and *Eustigmatos* have been frequently isolated from soils (Petersen 1932; Vischer 1945; Neustupa and Němcová 2001) and from various subaerial habitats, such as tree bark (Nakano et al. 1991; Neustupa and Škaloud 2010), rocks (Czerwik-Marcinkowska and Mrozinska 2009), or desert crusts (Flechtner et al. 1998; Büdel et al. 2009), but they are also found in freshwater (Ott et al. 2015). The genus *Monodopsis* also occurs in soils worldwide as well as in freshwater (Ettl and Gärtner 1995; Ott et al. 2015). *Pseudellipsoidion edaphicum* was isolated from soil in Central Europe, whereas the related species *Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis* was reported from both soil and freshwater habitats (Neustupa and Němcová 2001).

Most members of the clade *Goniochloridales* (Fig. 1) and some other eustigmatophytes (e.g., *Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae*) are freshwater phytoplankton or associated with vegetation in freshwater (Ettl 1978; Schnepf et al. 1996; Přibyl et al. 2012; Fawley et al. 2014). The predominantly marine genus *Nannochloropsis* also comprises a freshwater species, *N. limnetica*, a member of picoplankton communities in lakes and ponds (Krienitz et al. 2000; Fietz et al. 2005; Fawley and Fawley 2007). An extremely abundant population of *N. limnetica* dominating the phytoplankton community and reaching up to 5.7×10^9 cells 1^{-1} was reported in a hypertrophic lake in Germany (Krienitz et al. 2000), and it seems to be abundant primarily in periods of cold water (Fawley and Fawley 2007).

Mesotrophic and eutrophic lakes and ponds with neutral or slightly basic pH have proved to be a rich source of phylogenetically diverse eustigmatophyte strains (Fawley et al. 2014). On the other hand, many members of the Eustigmatophyceae are found associated with vegetation in acidic conditions and *Sphagnum* bogs (Ott et al. 2015; Karen and Marvin Fawley, pers. observation). *Chlorobotrys regularis* is frequently found in low-pH habitats such as *Sphagnum* bogs (Hibberd 1974), but some strains of *Chlorobotrys* isolated and held in the ACOI collection were isolated from lakes and ponds. Two unidentified eustigmatophytes were recorded by sequencing environmental 18S rDNA libraries from a peat bog in Switzerland (Lara et al. 2011; Fig. 1). Most recently, *Tetraëdriella subglobosa*, originally found by Pascher (1930) in acidic pools in Czechoslovakia, proved to be a



Fig. 1 The phylogenetic diversity of Eustigmatophyceae deduced from 18S rRNA gene sequences. The tree was inferred using the maximum likelihood method (RAxML) from an alignment of nearly all available eustigmatophyte 18S rRNA gene sequences plus sequences from selected non-eustigmatophyte ochrophytes used as an outgroup (not shown). The main eustigmatophyte

eustigmatophyte upon its re-isolation from an acidic pool near the shore of Lake Mácha, Czech Republic (Fawley and Fawley 2017).

The only known eustigmatophytes inhabiting marine or brackish habitats belong to the picoplanktonic genera *Nannochloropsis* (including also the freshwater species *N. limnetica*) and *Microchloropsis*. These species can form blooms in rock pools and enriched or polluted waters (Ryther 1954; Bourrelly 1958). An extensive bloom of *Microchloropsis* (=*Nannochloropsis*) gaditana was reported from brackish Comacchio lagoons in Italy (Andreoli et al. 1999a), whereas *Nannochloropsis* granulata was encountered as a large-scale bloom-causing species in China (in Bohai Sea and Yellow Sea; Zhang et al. 2015).

Eustigmatophytes may also be found in various less usual habitats. Frost et al. (1997) reported an unidentified eustigmatophyte endosymbiont living inside the freshwater sponge *Corvomeyenia everetti*. An unknown eustigmatophyte was detected in a wastewater treatment pond by sequencing an environmental library of the *rbcL* gene (Ghosh and Love 2011). A *Nannochloropsis* species related to *N. limnetica* was reported from a permanently ice-covered lake in Antarctica (Bielewicz et al. 2011). *Trachydiscus minutus* was found to constitute a dominant planktonic alga in a eutrophic cooling pond of a nuclear power plant (Přibyl et al. (2012). A new eustigmatophyte, *Eustigmatos calaminaris*, was recently described from Zn- and Pb-loaded calamine mine spoils (Trzcińska et al. 2014). Finally, *Vacuoliviride crystalliferum* was isolated from green-colored sediment in a bottle of glue (Nakayama et al. 2015).

Characterization and Recognition

General Appearance

Eustigmatophytes are spherical, polyhedral, stellate, ovoid, fusiform, or discoid in shape and vary in size generally between 2 and 25 μ m in the longest dimension, although some species may have much larger cells (for example, some *Characiopsis*-like organisms, personal observation). The morphological diversity

Fig. 1 (continued) lineages are annotated following the scheme proposed by Fawley et al. (2014). The number sign (#) marks strains for which nuclear genome sequence has been reported (see Table 1). Number in superscript at some taxa indicate that taxa (strains) with identical 18S rRNA gene sequences exist that were not included in the figure: ¹Eustigmatos vischeri CCAP 860/7 [KJ713283]; ²Chloridella neglecta SAG 48.84 [KF848924] and Eustigmatos magna CCMP387 [U41051]; ³Eustigmatos polyphem CAUP Q 102 [KF848922], Vischeria stellata SAG 33.83 [KF848919], Chloridella simplex CCALA 279 [KF848923], and "Ophiocytium majus" CCAP 855/1 [AM490835]; ⁴Monodus guttula CCALA 828 [KF848928], Monodus sp. CAUP D 901 [KF848926], and Monodopsis sp. MarTras21 [KP347780]; ⁵Microchloropsis gaditana MBIC10418 [AB052271], MBIC10063 [AB183586], CCMP527 [AFGN01000274] #, Micro-CCMP537 [AF045049] #, and CCMP1776 [AFGQ01000729, chloropsis salina AFGO01000649] #

of eustigmatophytes is documented in Fig. 2. Most vegetative cells are free floating, but *Pseudocharaciopsis* spp. and other *Characiopsis*-like algae may normally or occasionally be attached. Eustigmatophytes form green or yellow-green cultures, so some may be confused with coccoid members of the Xanthophyceae or Chlorophyta (green algae). However, eustigmatophytes can be distinguished by the presence of a red-orange pigmented body in the cytoplasm that is especially prominent in older vegetative cells. This lipidic body also has a characteristic yellow fluorescence when excited with ultraviolet light (Přibyl et al. 2012). Some eustigmatophytes also have highly sculpted cell walls (Santos and Santos 2001; Přibyl et al. 2012; Fawley et al. 2014; Fawley and Fawley 2017), although careful examination is required to detect the sculpting on small cells. Because many xanthophytes were described before the recognition of the distinctions between the two classes, some taxa currently classified as Xanthophyceae will likely be reassigned to the Eustigmatophyceae upon more detailed study.

Vegetative Cell Structure

Careful light and, for most species, electron microscopical observations of eustigmatophyte vegetative cells (Hibberd and Leedale 1972; Lee and Bold 1973; Hibberd 1974; Preisig and Wilhelm 1989; Santos and Leedale 1995; Schnepf et al. 1996; Neustupa and Němcová 2001; Hegewald et al. 2007; Přibyl et al. 2012; Nakayama et al. 2015) have revealed key morphological and ultrastructural characteristics for the whole group, as well as features specific to particular taxa. Most eustigmatophytes contain a single-lobed parietal plastid (Fig. 2); however, multiple plastids have been observed in *Pseudellipsoidion* (Neustupa and Němcová 2001), Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis (Hibberd 1981), and Pseudotetraëdriella (Hegewald et al. 2007). The plastid lamellae are evenly spaced (Fig. 3a-c) and are composed of three unappressed thylakoids. Additional thylakoids commonly appear between some of the lamellae, particularly at the edge of the plastid, forming granum-like stacks. The plastids do not contain a girdle lamella, and the longitudinal lamellae terminate close to the plastid envelope (Fig. 3a-c). The plastid envelope consists of four membranes with the outermost representing the plastid endoplasmic reticulum (PER). Connection of the PER with the nuclear envelope, otherwise a general characteristic of ochrophyte algae, has been reported only from the genera Nannochloropsis (incl. Microchloropsis) and Monodopsis (Antia et al. 1975; Santos and Leedale 1995; Karlson et al. 1996; Krienitz et al. 2000; Suda et al. 2002).

Pyrenoids are present in vegetative cells of several species, but never in the zoospores. In some eustigmatophytes, the pyrenoid is polyhedral (*Vischeria* spp., *Eustigmatos* spp., *Chlorobotrys regularis*) or globular (*Pseudocharaciopsis minuta*) and separated from the plastid itself by a narrow stalk (Fig. 3b), whereas the genera *Monodopsis* and *Vacuoliviride* form a bulging pyrenoid without a stalk (Santos and Leedale 1995; Nakayama et al. 2015). A pyrenoid has been reported for two species of the genus *Nannochloropsis* (Antia et al. 1975), but its presence could not be confirmed by subsequent studies (Santos 1996). The organism studied by



Fig. 2 Light micrographs of representative Eustigmatophyceae. (a) *Chlorybotrys* sp. UP3 5/31-7m (Eustigmataceae). (b) *Goniochloris sculpta* SAG 29.96 (Clade IIb). (c) Unidentified strain Mary 8/18 T-4d (Clade Ia); vegetative cells (*left*) and zoospores (*right*). (d) *Pseudellipsoidion edaphicum* CAUP Q 401 (*Pseudellipsoidion* group). (e) *Eustigmatos polyphem* (Eustigmataceae group). (f) *Monodus unipapilla* Skal1 4/27-2w (Monodopsidaceae). (g) Unidentified strain Itas 8/18 S-5d (Clade IIb). (h) *Nannochloropsis limnetica* CCMP 2271 (Monodopsidaceae). (i) *Pseudostaurastrum* sp. strain 10174 (*Goniochloridales*). (j) *Characiopsis acuta* ACOI 456 (Eustigmataceae group). (k) Unidentified strain Pic 8/18 T-15d (Clade IIc). (l) Unidentified strain grain Pic 9/21 T-1d (Clade IIc). (m) Unidentified strain Chic 10/23 P-37 (Clade IIa), illustrating wall sculpting (*right*). (n) Unidentified strain WTwin 8/18 T-15d (Clade IIc). *Bars* = 10 µm

Mohammady et al. (2004) under the name *Nannochloropsis salina* and exhibiting a prominent pyrenoid with a starch envelope is undoubtedly a green alga. The pyrenoid matrix of eustigmatophytes appears finely granular or homogeneous and is not penetrated by either plastid lamellae or individual thylakoids (Fig. 3b). The plates of refractive material that can be seen lying against the faces of the pyrenoids in the light microscope are represented in sections by flattened vesicles containing material that appears very finely lamellate after fixation. Smaller vesicles with apparently identical contents, called lamellate vesicles or refractile granules, also lie freely in the cytoplasm of both the vegetative cells and zoospores (Fig. 3g). These highly characteristic structures of all eustigmatophytes (Santos 1996) probably represent a storage material in the form of a β -1-3-linked polysaccharide (Schnepf et al. 1996).

Mitochondria contain tubular cristae as in other stramenopiles (Fig. 3c, f). A mitochondrion-dividing ring reminiscent of those known from the red alga



Fig. 3 Cell ultrastructure in the Eustigmatophyceae. (a) Detail of a plastid (without the girdle lamella) and a reddish globule of *Vischeria helvetica* (*pl* plastid, *rg* reddish globule). (b) Section of a vegetative cell of *Eustigmatos magna*, presumably on a way to cytokinesis (note the two nuclei; *cw* cell wall, *n* nucleus, *p* pyrenoid, *pl* plastid). (c) Zoospore of *Vischeria helvetica* (*e* eyespot, *f* flagellum, *m* mitochondrion, *n* nucleus, *nu* nucleolus, *pl* plastid, *tz* transitional zone of the flagellum). (d) Zoospore of *Trachydiscus minutus* in a scanning electron microscope. (e) Detail of the flagellum bearing mastigonemes, *Vischeria stellata*. (f) Longitudinal section of the flagellar apparatus of *Vischeria stellata* uniflagellate zoospore showing basal bodies with R3 and R4 flagellar roots; R1 and R2 are not visible on the section (*f* flagellum, *m* mitochondrion, *R3* flagellar root 3, *R4* flagellar root 4). (g) Lamellate vesicles containing material that appears very finely lamellate after

has been described the eustigmatophyte Cvanidioschyzon merolae in Nannochloropsis oculata (Hashimoto 2004). The nucleus is more or less spherical (Fig. 3b) but is relatively inconspicuous in the light microscope and can usually be clearly identified only in younger cells. Much more conspicuous is a vacuole with granular contents exhibiting Brownian movement. A highly characteristic structure of most eustigmatophytes, especially of older cells, is the so-called reddish globule (e.g., Fig. 2a, b, j, n). Its color varies from pale yellow-brown to dark red-brown and becomes larger and darker with age. In some species, the reddish globule is composed of a number of smaller droplets (Fig. 3a), but it is homogeneous in Chlorobotrys regularis (Hibberd 1974) or with a core less electron dense than the rest of the globule in Vacuoliviride crystalliferum (Nakayama et al. 2015). Prior to reproduction, the reddish globule does not divide but is completely inherited by one of the daughter autospores (Neustupa and Němcová 2001). A unique, rod- or V-shaped crystalline structure associated with the reddish globule was observed in Vacuoliviride crystalliferum (Nakayama et al. 2015).

The cell wall of eustigmatophytes is in one piece (Fig. 3b, h), but more than one layer can be seen, especially in older cells. The cell wall is generally smooth, but ornamentation with sculpting is seen in some members of the *Goniochloridales* (Fig. 2b, m; Přibyl et al. 2012; Fawley et al. 2014; Fawley and Fawley 2017). The composition of the eustigmatophyte cell wall has not been thoroughly investigated for most taxa, but it seems to be composed primarily of cellulose (Okuda et al. 2004; Vieler et al. 2012a). Recently, the cell wall of *M. gaditana* was studied in great detail and found to exhibit a bilayer structure consisting of a cellulosic inner wall protected by an outer hydrophobic alganean layer comprising long, straight-chain, saturated aliphatic hydrocarbons with ether cross-links (Scholz et al. 2014). The genus *Chlorobotrys* is unique in having a refractile wall exhibiting a high degree of flexibility and in being surrounded by concentric mucilaginous layers separated by tripartite membrane-like structures (Fig. 2a), probably composed of pectic materials with very little cellulose (Hibberd 1974). Biomineralization of manganese on the stalk surface was observed in *Pseudocharaciopsis minuta* (Wujek 2012).

Zoospore Structure

Eustigmatophyte genera, with the exception of *Nannochloropsis*, *Microchloropsis*, *Monodopsis*, *Chlorobotrys*, *Vacuoliviride*, and *Tetraëdriella*, are known to produce naked, somewhat amoeboid, oval, or lageniform (flask-shaped) zoospores, with one or two subapically inserted flagella (Figs. 2c and 3c–f). The zoospores generally harbor a single anteriorly positioned nucleus, a single plastid always without a pyrenoid, one or more mitochondria, a number of vesicles with lamellate or spiral

Fig. 3 (continued) fixation (enlarged lower-left figure), *Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis*. (h) Section of a vegetative cell of *Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis* (*cw* cell wall, *pl* plastid, *m* mitochondrion, *rg* reddish globule). (a–e): bar = 1 μ m; (f–g): bar = 0.2 μ m; (h): bar = 1 μ m

content, and a Golgi body (Hibberd and Leedale 1972; Lee and Bold 1973; Preisig and Wilhelm 1989; Santos and Leedale 1992; Schnepf et al. 1996).

The zoospores of some eustigmatophytes bear just one emergent flagellum (Fig. 3c–f), but at least in those species studied by electron microscopy a second bare kinetosome (basal body) lies closely associated with the one subtending the flagellum. A pair of unequal flagella was found in the zoospores of *Pseudo-characiopsis* spp. (Lee and Bold 1973; Hibberd 1981; Neustupa and Němcová 2001) and *Botryochloropsis similis* (Preisig and Wilhelm 1989), where the posterior flagellum is shorter, very narrow, and not readily apparent in the light microscope. Except for a short proximal part, the posterior flagellum exhibits a simplified structure of the axoneme consisting of only two central microtubules. The single flagellum of the unimastigote zoospores and the anterior flagellum in bimastigote zoospores bear tripartite tubular hairs (mastigonemes) of the same type as found in other ochrophytes (Fig. 3d, e) and exhibit a characteristic basal swelling appressed against the anterior region of the cell body containing the eyespot, if present (Hibberd and Leedale 1972; Santos and Leedale 1991; Schnepf et al. 1996).

The eyespot (stigma) is by far the most conspicuous feature of the eustigmatophyte zoospores and is often considered to be characteristic for the group. However, it is reportedly absent from zoospores of all members of the clade Goniochloridales studied so far (Pseudostaurastrum limneticum, Goniochloris sculpta, and Trachydiscus minutus; Schnepf et al. 1996; Přibyl et al. 2012) and also from one member of the Eustigmatales (Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae; Hegewald et al. 2007). The eyespot is red-orange in color and its size differs depending on the species (being very large and filling almost the whole of the extreme anterior end of the zoospore in some eustigmatophytes). It lies outside and quite separate from the plastid (Fig. 3c). It is composed of a number of osmiophilic globules of variable size, and neither the eyespot as a whole nor the globules are membrane bound. One large D-shaped droplet lies closely against the cell membrane opposite to the flagellar swelling. The basal swelling/eyespot complex is a probable photoperceptive system with the eyespot serving to enhance contrast. The identity of the actual photoreceptor substance is unknown, but it is thought to emit a green autofluorescence observed in the basal swelling/eyespot region upon excitation with a blue-violet light (Santos et al. 1996).

The transitional region between the basal body and the axoneme consists of a transverse partition and a transitional helix with three to five gyres surrounding the proximal few nanometres of the central pair of the axoneme (Fig. 3c). Flagellar roots have been reconstructed for zoospores of *Vischeria stellata* (Santos and Leedale 1991). Roots R1 and R2 originate on the opposite sides of the flagellum-bearing basal body and run anteriorly supporting the anterior part of the cell associated with the flagellar swelling. Root R3 is attached with dense material between the basal bodies and runs close to the plasma membrane down to the posterior end of the cell, whereas root R4 extends from the bare basal body. The fibrous rhizoplast connects the basal bodies and extends deep into the cell, where it splits into several branches spreading over the nuclear surface (Santos and Leedale 1991).

Reproduction and Life Cycle

Eustigmatophytes reproduce primarily by the formation of autospores (Fig. 2d, f). There may be two D-shaped or four or eight polyhedral autospores per autosporangium; in the more elongate species, the autospores are arranged more or less longitudinally within the parent cell wall before release. Details of cytokinesis in eustigmatophytes have yet to be worked out, but nuclear and plastid division were followed at the ultrastructural level in *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Murakami and Hashimoto 2009). The nucleus divides by closed mitosis, and the inner nuclear envelope constricts and pinches off before the outer nuclear envelope.

An alternative reproduction mode in eustigmatophytes is zoosporogenesis. Some species produce zoospores in relatively small quantities, and the genera Nannochloropsis, Microchloropsis, Monodopsis, Vacuoliviride, and Chlorobotrys (Hibberd 1974; Antia et al. 1975; Santos 1996; Nakayama et al. 2015) even appear to lack this ability completely. On the other hand, reproduction solely by zoospores was described in Pseudostaurastrum limneticum (Schnepf et al. 1996) and Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae (Hegewald et al. 2007). Factors inducing zoosporogenesis have not been systematically investigated, but zoospore production in Trachydiscus minutus is induced by darkness, suppressed by light, and depends on the temperature (Přibyl et al. 2012). In Characiopsis-like eustigmatophytes, zoospores are formed briefly after subculturing old cultures (personal observation). Profound morphological variability in vegetative cell shape, including formation of thick-walled resting cells, was reported as part of the life cycle of *Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis* and Vischeria sp. strains (Neustupa and Němcová 2001). Similarly, Fietz et al. (2005) observed thick-walled resting stages in Nannochloropsis limnetica germinating by releasing a single cell.

Sexual reproduction is unknown in eustigmatophytes and was suggested to be absent in *Nannochloropsis oceanica* based on evidence from genome sequencing (Pan et al. 2011). However, analyses of the genome sequence of two strains of *Microchloropsis* (=*Nannochloropsis*) gaditana unveiled a suite of genes encoding homologs of proteins involved in meiosis, including the meiosis-specific proteins Spo11, Hop1, Hop2, Mnd1, Dmc1, and Msh5 (Radakovits et al. 2012; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014). This suggests the possible existence of a cryptic sexual cycle in this species.

Genomics, Molecular Biology, and Biochemistry

Knowledge of eustigmatophyte biology at the biochemical and molecular level is heavily biased toward the genus *Nannochloropsis* (sensu *lato*), with very limited information available for other eustigmatophytes. A major change in this field came with the advent of eustigmatophyte genome sequencing, which yielded data now being explored by in silico analyses and inspiring direct experimental research. The latter has been boosted by development of a suite of methods of genome manipulations for different species of Nannochloropsis and Microchloropsis. Exogenous DNA can now be readily introduced into the cells by electroporation and integrated with high efficiency and specificity into the nuclear genome by homologous recombination with the target region (Chen et al. 2008; Kilian et al. 2011; Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a; Li et al. 2014a; Kaye et al. 2015; Iwai et al. 2015). These techniques enable gene knockout, overexpression, or expression of modified or foreign genes in Nannochloropsis or Microchloropsis genomes. For example, overexpression of an endogenous $\Delta 12$ desaturase driven by a stressinducible promoter led to enhanced deposition of LC-PUFAs in TAG, demonstrating the power of genetic manipulations for improving the biotechnological utility of eustigmatophytes (Kaye et al. 2015). Moog et al. (2015) used predicted localization signals of several authentic proteins of N. oceanica to drive tagged variants of green fluorescent protein (GFP) into different compartments of transformed N. oceanica cells. This study thus opens up new possibilities for cell biological research of eustigmatophytes. Most recently, CRISPR/Cas9 technology has been successfully applied to *N. oceanica* for targeted genome editing (Wang et al. 2016).

Below, general characteristics of eustigmatophyte nuclear and organellar genomes are briefly reviewed, and examples of interesting insights into the molecular fabric of eustigmatophyte cells enabled by in silico analyses of genome data are discussed. An overview of the most important aspects of the eustigmatophyte metabolism as unveiled in recent years by a combination of in silico and direct experimental approaches is then provided.

Nuclear Genomes

Thanks to the efforts of several research groups utilizing the increasingly available next-generation sequencing technologies, more or less complete nuclear genome sequences have become available for most *Nannochloropsis* species (the only exception being the recently described Nannochloropsis australis) and for both *Microchloropsis* species (Table 1). Genome sequences for more multiple strains have even been reported for Nannochloropsis oceanica and Microchloropsis gaditana. The reported genome size varies from ~ 25 to ~ 35 Mbp, and the number of predicted genes ranges from \sim 6,600 to \sim 12,000. The differences in these values within the two genera and even between strains of the same species are striking and may partly reflect technical issues stemming from different strategies employed for sequencing, assembly, and annotation of the genomes. These uncertainties notwithstanding, Nannochloropsis and Microchloropsis species apparently belong to the category of algae with small genomes (for comparison, see, e.g., Kim et al. 2014), with relatively high gene density and low intron density (Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014). Whether this can be generalized to eustigmatophytes as a whole is presently unknown.

The most complete information about genome organization is available for *M. gaditana* B-31, which was estimated to have 30 chromosomes based on the number of putative telomeric ends identified in the assembly (Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014) and for *N. oceanica* IMET1, which was suggested to have 22 chromosomes using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (Wang et al. 2014). The telomeric

	Genome assembly size	Number of	
Species	(Mbp)	genes	References
Nannochloropsis granulata CCMP529	30.1	8,060	Wang et al. (2014)
Nannochloropsis limnetica CCMP505	33.5	?	Xu et al. unpublished (GenBank accession number AFGL00000000.1)
Nannochloropsis oceanica CCMP1779	28.7	11,973	Vieler et al. (2012a)
Nannochloropsis oceanica CCMP531	35.5	7,268	Wang et al. (2014)
Nannochloropsis oceanica IMET1	30.1	9,915	Wang et al. (2014)
Nannochloropsis oceanica LAMB0001	27.6	6,639	Pan et al. (2011)
Nannochloropsis oceanica OZ-1	28.0	?	Xu et al. unpublished (GenBank accession number AFGK01000000.1)
Nannochloropsis oculata CCMP525	34.5	7,254	Wang et al. (2014)
Microchloropsis gaditana B-31	26.3	10,486	Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. (2014)
Microchloropsis gaditana CCMP526	29.0	8,892	Radakovits et al. (2012)
Microchloropsis gaditana CCMP527	25.6	?	Xu et al. unpublished (GenBank accession number AFGN00000000.1)
Microchloropsis salina CCMP537	26.9	6,562	Wang et al. (2014)

Table 1 Sequenced nuclear genomes of eustigmatophytes. Note that the species here assigned to the genus *Microchloropsis* are treated as species of the genus *Nannochloropsis* in the respective references and database records

repeat of *M. gaditana* B-31 corresponds to the "human-type" motif TTAGGG (Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014), but whether it is common in eustigmatophytes in general is uncertain, because direct testing of the presence of this telomeric sequence in *Eustigmatos polyphem* and *Vischeria punctata* by Southern hybridization failed to confirm this (Fulnečková et al. 2013). Based on the analysis of Pan et al. (2011), *Nannochloropsis oceanica* LAMB0001 is monoploid (haploid), while the ploidy of other eustigmatophytes with sequenced genomes was not investigated closer. An analysis of gene orientation along the *M. gaditana* genome revealed a pattern suggesting frequent deployment of a single bidirectional promoter to control

the expression of two neighboring genes with head-to-head orientation (Jinkerson et al. 2013)

Comparative analyses of the gene complements of Nannochloropsis and Microchloropsis spp. revealed a surprising level of differences. Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. (2014) clustered genes annotated in genomes of two strains of Microchloropsis (=Nannochloropsis) gaditana and two strains of Nannochloropsis oceanica and found that only ~4600 clusters comprise homologs present in all four strains, although the total number of annotated genes were between ~ 9000 and $\sim 11,000$ in each strain. This was not only because of differences between the two species, as the strains of the same species also differed in the presence/absence of hundreds of genes. An analysis by Wang et al. (2014) including six strains and five Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis species found an even smaller set of ~2700 core genes shared by all the taxa, whereas the pan-genome, i.e., the totality of all clusters of homologous genes and gene singletons in the six strains was a surprising $\sim 38,000$ genes. While these numbers are certainly impacted by genome annotation artifacts, it seems well established that there is considerable diversity within the Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis group at the level of gene repertoire (Wang et al. 2014), which is in stark contrast to the low differences between the strains and species in their 18S rRNA gene sequences (Fig. 1). The evolutionary origin and functional significance of this diversity is yet to be worked out.

In addition to these general aspects of the gene content of eustigmatophyte genomes, many crucial insights into the molecular underpinnings of various structures and processes in eustigmatophyte cells have been obtained by in silico analyses of the sequenced genomes. Analyses of different functional gene categories generally show standard sets of genes expected for a unicellular alga, although relative enrichment of some gene categories, including genes related to lipid metabolism, organic acid metabolism, and stress response, was noted (Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014). Most attention has been paid to investigating genes related to metabolism, which is discussed in a separate section below. Here, some of the more interesting findings concerning other aspects are highlighted.

Above all, genome analyses provided some insights into regulatory and signaling processes in eustigmatophyte cells. For example, several studies addressed the repertoire of transcription factors and found that the MYB family is the dominant group in eustigmatophytes, whereas some families common in many other eukaryotes, e.g., homeobox and MADS-box genes, are missing (Vieler et al. 2012a; Hu et al. 2014; Thiriet-Rupert et al. 2016). Eustigmatophytes proved to possess the core components of the machinery for RNA-mediated silencing, including Argonaute, Dicer, and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014). This suggests the ability to employ RNA interference as a defense mechanism against parasitic genetic elements (transposons or viruses), but the machinery may also be involved in processing of miRNAs and deploying them for regulation of endogenous gene expression, as putative miRNA genes were identified in the *N. oceanica* genome (Vieler et al. 2012a). Eustigmatophyte genomes also harbor homologs of blue light receptors common in eukaryotes in general

(cryptochromes) or specific for ochrophytes (aureochromes), suggesting the ability to sense blue light in the environment (Vieler et al. 2012a; Thiriet-Rupert et al. 2016).

Analyses of the *N. oceanica* genome by Vieler et al. (2012a) also led to a discovery that subsequently proved to be important concerning the evolution and function of mitochondria in eukaryotes. These authors pointed to the fact that the nuclear genome encodes homologs of bacterial MinC and MinD proteins with predicted mitochondrial targeting signals and speculated that these might be novel components of mitochondrial division machinery, given the known function of Min proteins in bacterial cell division. Leger et al. (2015) subsequently showed that not only eustigmatophytes but also a number of other eukaryotic lineages possess a previously unnoticed mitochondrial Min system (comprised of MinC, MinD, and MinE proteins) apparently inherited from the bacterial ancestor of mitochondria and presumably involved in regulating mitochondrial division mediated by the mitochondrial FtsZ protein. This example suggests that eustigmatophytes may prove useful as model organisms for investigating general questions of eukaryotic molecular and cell biology.

Organellar Genomes

In contrast to the nuclear genome sequences so far restricted only to the genera *Nannochloropsis* and *Microchloropsis*, organellar genomes have been surveyed more broadly in eustigmatophytes. Specifically, sequences of both organellar genomes have been published not only for most *Nannochloropsis* species (except *N. australis*) and for both *Microchloropsis* species (Radakovits et al. 2012; Wei et al. 2013; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014; Starkenburg et al. 2014) but also for three species from different branches of the eustigmatophyte phylogeny: *Monodopsis* sp. MarTras21 (representing a sister lineage of the *Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis* group), *Vischeria* sp. CAUP Q 202 (representing the more distantly related Eustigmataceae group), and *Trachydiscus minutus* (a representative of the clade *Goniochloridales*) (Ševčíková et al. 2015, 2016; Yurchenko et al. 2016). This sampling allows for inferring not only the general characteristics of eustigmatophyte organellar genomes but also their evolutionary plasticity within the group.

Eustigmatophyte mitochondrial genomes (mitogenomes) are conventional in their architecture (circular-mapping molecules), size (from ~38 to ~46 kbp), and gene content (26–29 tRNA genes, 3 rRNA genes, and 37–40 protein coding genes plus nonconserved ORFs specific for particular eustigmatophyte subgroups) (Starkenburg et al. 2014; Ševčíková et al. 2016). An early study proposed that eustigmatophyte mitochondria use the standard genetic code, in contrast to the mitochondria of superficially similar xanthophytes employing a deviant genetic code with the codon AUA coding for methionine rather than isoleucine (Ehara et al. 1997). This has been corroborated by full genome sequencing, which also revealed the presence of a gene for the Ile-tRNA cognate to the AUA codon in eustigmatophyte mitogenomes (Ševčíková et al. 2016). *Trachydiscus minutus* and members of the *Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis* lineages independently lost the nucleus-encoded mitochondrion-targeted translation termination factor mRF2 and consequently do not use UGA as a termination codon, but no indication of UGA

being reassigned in these taxa as a sense codon (as in mitochondria of many other eukaryotes) was found. An unusual feature of eustigmatophyte mitogenomes is the presence of the *atp1* gene. This is an ancestral condition retained also by non-ochrophyte stramenopiles such as oomycetes, whereas all other ochrophyte classes have lost the mitochondrial *atp1* gene and the Atp1 protein is encoded by a nuclear copy. Eustigmatophyte mitogenomes also uniquely share a truncated *nad11* gene encoding only the C-terminal part of the Nad11 protein, while the N-terminal part is encoded by a separate gene in the nuclear genome. Whereas the gene order of most eustigmatophyte mitogenomes is highly similar, the *Vischeria* sp. CAUP Q 202 genome has been extensively reshuffled, coinciding with the loss of several mitochondrial genes and accelerated evolution of mitochondrial gene sequences in the *Vischeria* lineage (Ševčíková et al. 2016).

All sequenced eustigmatophyte plastid genomes (plastomes) are typical circularmapping molecules (from ~ 115 to ~ 126 kbp in size) with short and long single-copy regions separated by inverted repeats, with the number of genes subsumed to the inverted repeat somewhat differing between the species (Starkenburg et al. 2014; Yurchenko et al. 2016). Their gene content is highly similar (25–28 tRNA genes, 3 rRNA genes, the ssrA gene for tmRNA, 124–128 genes coding for typical conserved plastid proteins, and a varying number of nontypical or nonconserved genes) and generally resembles that of other ochrophytes, with several notable exceptions. Firstly, eustigmatophytes plastomes are interesting in that they possess the gene vcf49, so far additionally found only in plastomes of cvanidiophyte red algae and the glaucophyte Cyanophora paradoxa (Ševčíková et al. 2015). Secondly, the gene for the ClpC protein has been split into three separate genes, encoding the N-terminal domain and the two AAA+ domains as separate polypeptides that presumably assemble into a functional protein (Starkenburg et al. 2014; Ševčíková et al. 2015; Yurchenko et al. 2016). The split of the N-terminal domain is shared with the sole-sequenced plastome of a chrysophyte, Ochromonas sp. CCMP1393, supporting the notion that Eustigmatophyceae and Chrysophyceae are related ochrophyte lineages (Ševčíková et al. 2015). Thirdly, the plastomes of Vischeria sp. CAUP Q 202 and Monodopsis sp. MarTras21 were surprisingly found to harbor a six-gene cluster (inserted between the vcf54 and rpl21 genes) acquired from a bacterial donor via horizontal gene transfer (Yurchenko et al. 2016). In silico analyses of these genes revealed that they constitute a novel putative operon, denoted *ebo*, which is quite widespread in bacteria and encodes enzymes of an uncharacterized pathway of secondary metabolism. The significance of the ebo operon for eustigmatophyte biology is not yet clear, but its presence in members of two main subgroups of the Eustigmatales indicates it must have been acquired early in eustigmatophyte evolution and secondarily lost in the Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis lineage (Yurchenko et al. 2016).

Metabolism

For most eustigmatophyte species, biochemical analyses have been generally restricted to the composition of plastid pigments (Whittle and Casselton 1975a; Preisig and Wilhelm 1989; Santos 1996; Schnepf et al. 1996; Karlson et al. 1996;

Krienitz et al. 2000; Lubián et al. 2000; Suda et al. 2002). The group is unique among ochrophyte algae in that no form of chlorophyll c is detectable by HPLC. All species contain β -carotene. Violaxanthin is the major xanthophyll along with vaucheriaxanthin (-ester) and sometimes other minor forms (zeaxanthin, canthaxanthin, astaxanthin), but fucoxanthin, diadinoxanthin/diatoxanthin, or heteroxanthin are not detected. Violaxanthin is both a light-harvesting pigment (Owens et al. 1987; Keşan et al. 2016) and a component of the xanthophyll cycle protecting the photosynthetic apparatus against an excess of light via non-photochemical fluorescence quenching (Lubián and Montero 1998; Gentile and Blanch 2001; Bína et al. 2017). The major light-harvesting antenna of eustigmatophytes, homologous to the better-known diatom FCP (Fucoxanthin Chlorophyll Protein), is accordingly called VCP (Viola-/Vaucheriaxanthin Chlorophyll Protein) (Sukenik et al. 2000; Carbonera et al. 2014; Litvín et al. 2016). Very recently, the molecular architecture and subunit composition of the photosystem I (PSI) supercomplex were reported for two species of the Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis group, revealing unprecedented features of the PSI antenna complexes (Basso et al. 2014; Alboresi et al. 2017; Bína et al. 2016).

Carbon metabolism in eustigmatophytes appears fairly standard and includes glycolysis and gluconeogenesis, the Krebs cycle, oxidative and reductive pentose phosphate pathway, as well as the glyoxylate cycle (Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a). Analyses of the predicted gene complements in *M. gaditana* and N. oceanica suggested the operation of several carbon-concentration mechanisms in these algae that would enable both C₃- and C₄-type carbon assimilation (Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a). Genes for enzymes of polysaccharide metabolism were also annotated in eustigmatophyte genomes and include those for biosynthesis and degradation of both the main cell wall component, i.e., cellulose, and the main storage polysaccharide, i.e., a β -1,3-glucan (chrysolaminarin) (Vieler et al. 2012a; Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014; Scholz et al. 2014). Genes predicted to encode enzymes responsible for the synthesis of sulfated fucans were also identified, suggesting that like in some other ochrophytes, these polysaccharides may also be present in the eustigmatophyte cell wall (Corteggiani Carpinelli et al. 2014). Precursors for isoprenoid biosynthesis are formed solely by the plastid-located non-mevalonate (DOXP) pathway, as no homologs of enzymes of the cytosolic mevalonate pathway were found in the M. gaditana genome (Radakovits et al. 2012). Several vitamin B12-dependent enzymes were found to be encoded by the *M. gaditana* genome, suggesting that vitamin B12 may be beneficial or even essential for eustigmatophyte growth under some conditions (Jinkerson et al. 2013).

A new frontier in eustigmatophyte research was defined by the recent identification of phytohormones, specifically abscisic acid (ABA), cytokinins (CKs), and gibberellin (GA), in *Nannochloropsis oceanica* (Lu et al. 2014; Lu and Xu 2015). The *N. oceanica* genomes encode homologs of enzymes mediating the synthesis of ABA and CKs in plants, and the pathways of ABA and CK synthesis are transcriptionally up- and downregulated, respectively, upon nitrogen depletion. CKs stimulate cell cycle progression in *N. oceanica* whereas ABA acts as a growth repressor, indicating an antagonistic role of the two regulators in response to nitrogen deprivation. Like some other algae and many anaerobic non-photosynthetic protists, *Nannochloropsis* and *Microchloropsis* have genes encoding the enzyme [FeFe]-hydrogenase (*hydA*) as well as factors involved in hydrogenase maturation (*hydE*, *hydF*, and *hydG*; Radakovits et al. 2012; Vieler et al. 2012a). In agreement with these *in silico* insights, *N. oceanica* was found to produce H₂ when grown at anaerobic conditions and supplied with an abiotic electron donor (Vieler et al. 2012a), but the actual physiological role of hydrogenase in eustigmatophytes remains unknown.

Of all metabolic pathways in eustigmatophytes, the most attractive for researchers have been those concerning the synthesis and degradation of fatty acids and lipids. The significance of these metabolic processes in eustigmatophytes is immediately apparent from the fact that the complement of genes encoding enzymes of lipid metabolism is markedly expanded in *Nannochloropsis* and *Microchloropsis* genomes compared to other algae (Radakovits et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2014). Multiple paralogs are found for many of the enzymes, and phylogenetic analyses suggested that the expansion could have partly originated from acquisition of new genes by horizontal gene transfer (Wang et al. 2014).

This genetic constitution underpins the long-known ability of eustigmatophytes to accumulate large amounts of neutral lipids, i.e., forms of TAG with varying profiles of esterified fatty acids (Ma et al. 2016). TAG accumulates in lipid droplets in eustigmatophyte cells. In Nannochloropsis sp., an abundant hydrophobic lipid droplet surface protein (LDSP) was characterized (Vieler et al. 2012b). It is unique in its primary sequence but is structurally similar to other lipid-droplet-associated proteins (oleosins) from other organisms. Physiological experiments established stress factors as the main trigger for TAG accumulation, with TAG accumulation serving as a carbon sink under conditions limiting cell growth. Nitrogen limitation stands out as the most effective factor. Recent studies provided a detailed view of changes in gene expression and the activity of different biochemical pathways leading to an increased TAG production upon nitrogen depletion (Li et al. 2014b; Meng et al. 2015). High light intensity also stimulates TAG production, and the molecular mechanism of this phenomenon was recently studied in fine detail using a combination of transcriptomic, lipidomic, and metabolomic approaches (Alboresi et al. 2016).

Not only the production of TAG as such but also certain features of the metabolism of fatty acids make eustigmatophytes highly attractive for biotechnological exploitation. This concerns primarily the ability to synthesize substantial amounts of nutritionally valuable LC-PUFAs. Of these, the most important is EPA (C20:5 n-3), which is found not only in the highly studied *Nannochloropsis-Microchloropsis* group but seems to be abundant in eustigmatophytes in general (Cohen 1994; Volkman et al. 1999; Řezanka et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2016). The actual EPA content in eustigmatophyte cells varies considerably depending on environmental conditions such as nutrient status, salinity, light intensity, or temperature (Sukenik 1991, Cohen 1994, Lu et al. 2001, Hoshida et al. 2005, Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen 2006, Pal et al. 2011). EPA is mostly present in the membrane lipids (glyco- and phospholipids) (Cohen 1994; Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen 2006; Vieler et al. 2012a; Ma et al. 2016), but in *T. minutus*, its considerable amounts were identified in TAG as well (Řezanka et al. 2011). An analysis of the *N. oceanica* genome revealed a complete set of genes encoding membrane-bound ER-localized desaturases, namely, putative $\Delta 9$ -, $\Delta 12$ -, $\Delta 6$ -, $\Delta 5$ -, and $\omega 3$ -desaturases, which implies the synthesis of EPA outside of the plastid and its import into the plastid for glycolipid synthesis (Vieler et al. 2012a). Arachidonic acid (C20:4 n-6) is also present in smaller quantities in at least some eustigmatophytes (Řezanka et al. 2014). The fatty acid profile of members of the *Vischeria/Eustigmatos* group proved to be unusual due to a high concentration of long-chain hydroxy fatty acids (Volkman et al. 1999).

Systematics

Although eustigmatophytes were sometimes considered as a separate division or phylum Eustigmatophyta (Hibberd 1981, 1990; Ettl and Gärtner 1995; John 2011) or as a taxon (named Eustigmatales) with no explicitly assigned taxonomic rank (Adl et al. 2012), most often they have been treated as the class Eustigmatophyceae within the broadly defined phylum (division) Ochrophyta (Heterokontophyta) (Santos and Leedale 1991; Andersen 2004; Cavalier-Smith and Chao 2006; Graham et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2012; Ševčíková et al. 2015). The formal taxonomic scheme for eustigmatales, divided into four families (Eustigmataceae, Chlorobotrydaceae, Pseudocharaciopsidaceae, Monodopsidaceae). Each family was characterized by a unique combination of character states concerning the presence/absence of zoospores, number of flagella, presence/absence of mucilage, and cell shape. One additional family, the Loboceae, was established to accommodate the newly described alga *Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae* (Hegewald et al. 2007).

However, the "one order/five families" system is incongruent with the phylogenetic relationships within the Eustigmatophyceae and cannot accommodate the diversity as revealed by recent sampling that has yielded a large number of uncharacterized or unidentified isolates (Fig. 1). Above all, the traditional classification does not capture the division of eustigmatophytes into two phylogenetically deeply diverged lineages (Fig. 1). The first lineage includes all eustigmatophyte taxa known to Hibberd (1981) and hence can be equated to his order Eustigmatales. The second lineage comprises taxa that were recognized as eustigmatophytes or described only in the past 25 years, so it naturally constitutes a new candidate eustigmatophyte order. However, in order to formally erect the order based on the International Code of Nomenclature for algae, fungi, and plants (Melbourne Code; http://www.iapt-taxon.org/nomen/main.php), the family-level classification of this group needs to be resolved. Hence, some of us employed the International Code of Phylogenetic Nomenclature (PhyloCode; https://www.ohio.edu/phylocode/index. html) as an alternative to describe the second principal eustigmatophyte group as the clade *Goniochloridales* (Fawley et al. 2014).

A comprehensive classification of the two main eustigmatophyte groups that would be consistent with the phylogenetic relationships as revealed by molecular phylogenetic analyses is yet to be worked out. Some of the existing families and genera have proven to be para- or polyphyletic, and taxa need to be established to accommodate some newly recognized or described lineages. However, extensive revisions of many taxa are hampered by the lack of cultures corresponding to type species. As mentioned above, further work is also required to resolve the concept of families in the Goniochloridales. One to several separate families are conceivable based on the current picture of the phylogenetic diversity of the group (Fig. 1). In the Eustigmatales, three main lineages are apparent that can perhaps be conveniently recognized as three families. One of them fits the delimitation of the family Monodopsidaceae, provided that the family Loboceae, proposed to accommodate P. kamillae (Hegewald et al. 2007), is abandoned to avoid paraphyly of Monodopsidaceae. In fact, the formal description of Loboceae is invalid according to the International Code of Nomenclature for algae, fungi, and plants, as the name is not typified by a genus name. The current circumscription of the families Eustigmataceae, Chlorobotrydaceae, and Pseudocharaciopsidaceae appears to be too narrow from the phylogenetic point of view (Fig. 1). They may possibly be merged into a single monophyletic family characterized by the presence of a bulging pyrenoid connected to the plastid with a narrow stipe. On the other hand, a new family needs to be established for a clade comprising *Pseudellipsoidion edaphicum* and *Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis* together constituting a strongly supported third monophyletic clade of Eustigmatales (Fig. 1). To facilitate communication about the eustigmatophyte phylogenetic diversity before formal taxonomic revisions of the eustigmatophyte families are completed, informal names were proposed for different (presumably) monophyletic subgroups of both Eustigmatales and Goniochloridales (Fawley et al. 2014). For simplicity, these informal groups are only indicated in Fig. 1 and are not discussed further.

The following overview of eustigmatophyte classification includes all genera and species previously assigned to this group on the basis of ultrastructural, biochemical, and/or molecular evidence.

Order Eustigmatales

Genus Eustigmatos D.J. Hibberd 1981

Type species: Eustigmatos vischeri D.J. Hibberd

Very similar to Vischeria but the cell wall is always smooth and featureless. Four species (*E. vischeri*, *E. magnus*, *E. polyphem*, *E. calaminaris*) very closely related to or intermixed with Vischeria spp. in molecular trees (Fig. 1), suggesting that the genus *Eustigmatos* should be merged with the genus *Vischeria*.

Genus Vischeria Pascher 1938

Type species: *Vischeria stellata* (Chodat) Pascher (basionym: *Chlorobotrys stellata* Chodat).

The cells isodiametric, the zoospores elongate lageniform, with a single emergent flagellum, the cell wall typically raised into projections or ridges. Three species (*V. stellata, V. punctata, V. helvetica*) studied in detail and confirmed as eustigmatophytes (Hibberd 1981), nine other species described by Pascher (1939) are yet to be reinvestigated.

Genus Chlorobotrys Bohlin 1901

Type species: *Chlorobotrys regularis* (West) Bohlin (basionym: *Chlorococcum regulare* West).

The cells occur in pairs or colonies, surrounded by lamellate mucilage. Zoospores not observed. One species, *C. regularis*, was confirmed as a eustigmatophyte (Hibberd 1974); several other described species (Ettl 1978) are yet to be studied in detail.

Genus Pseudocharaciopsis K.W. Lee and H.C. Bold 1974

Type species: *Pseudocharaciopsis texensis* K.W. Lee & Bold, considered a junior synonym of *Pseudocharaciopsis minuta* (A.Braun) Hibberd (basionym: *Characium minutum* A.Braun ex Kützing)

The cells ovoid/ellipsoidal and capable of producing a stipe. The zoospores with two emergent flagella. 18S rRNA gene sequences determined for the two *Pseudocharaciopsis* species (*P. minuta* and *P. ovalis*) indicate that this genus is polyphyletic (Fig. 1). In addition, a strain identified as *Characiopsis saccata*, hence representing the genus *Characiopsis* currently classified in the class Xanthophyceae, is closely related to *P. minuta* (Fig. 1). The taxonomy of the genera *Pseudocharaciopsis* and *Characiopsis* is thus in an urgent need of revision (see also below).

Genus Monodopsis D.J. Hibberd 1981

Type species: *Monodopsis subterranea* (J.B. Petersen) D.J. Hibberd (basionym: *Monodus subterranea* J.B. Petersen)

Unicellular forms with spherical, ovoid, ellipsoid, or cylindrical cells, 5–10 µm in diameter. Zoospores not observed. One validly described species (*M. subterranea*). The combination *Monodopsis unipapilla* was mentioned in the literature (Santos and Leedale 1995; Santos 1996) but not yet validly published, for a species originally known as *Monodus unipapilla* and closely related to *M. subterranea* (Fig. 1). Other species of the traditionally xanthophyte genus *Monodus* may need reclassification to *Monodopsis*. One such candidate is *Monodus guttula*, nominally represented by two strains with sequenced 18S rRNA gene (Fig. 1) whose identification yet need to be critically examined.

Genus Pseudotetraëdriella E. Hegewald 2007

Type species: Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae E. Hegewald & J. Padisák

The vegetative cells with four lobes, zoospores elongate-ovate with one emergent flagellum and without an eyespot, globular resting spores. So far monotypic.

Genus Nannochloropsis D.J. Hibberd 1981

Type species: *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Droop) D.J. Hibberd (basionym: *Nannochloris oculata* Droop)

The cells spherical, ovoid, ellipsoid, or cylindrical, $<5 \mu m$ in maximum dimension. Zoospores not observed. Previously included two species now classified in the separate genus *Microchloropsis* (see below). The five formally described species occur in marine habitats (*N. oculata, N. granulata, N. oceanica, N. australis*) or in freshwater (*N. limnetica* with several varieties described; Fawley and Fawley 2007). One more species, "*Nannochloropsis maritima*", appeared recently in the literature (Hu et al. 2013) and is represented by an 18S rDNA sequence in GenBank (accession number AY680703), but it has not been formally described.

Genus Microchloropsis M.W. Fawley, I. Jameson & K.P. Fawley 2015

Type species: *Microchloropsis salina* (D.J. Hibbard) M.W. Fawley, I. Jameson & K.P. Fawley (basionym: *Nannochloropsis salina* D.J. Hibberd)

Cells small (2–8 μ m), cylindrical or rarely spherical with a single parietal chloroplast. Pyrenoids absent. Some cells with an orange or red lipid body free in the cytoplasm. Refractive granules or short rods usually present in the cytoplasm. Reproduction by autospore production. Young autospores usually hemispherical but become cylindrical or spherical as they mature. Two described species (*M. salina* and *M. gaditana*).

Genus Pseudellipsoidion J. Neustupa and Y. Němcová 2001

Type species: Pseudellipsoidion edaphicum J. Neustupa & Y. Němcová

The vegetative cells with ellipsoidal and globular morphology, zoospores of irregular or oval shape with one emergent flagellum. Pyrenoid absent. So far monotypic.

Clade Goniochloridales

Genus Goniochloris Geitler 1928

Type species: Goniochloris sculpta Geitler

Vegetative cells dorsoventrally flattened and irregularly triangular in frontal view, with the cell surface sculptured. Reclassification of this genus from the Xanthophyceae to the Eustigmatophyceae is based on the 18S rRNA gene sequence from the type species *G. sculpta* (Fig. 1; Přibyl et al. 2012). The taxonomic assignment of the number of remaining known *Goniochloris* species (Ettl 1978) awaits further studies.

Genus Pseudostaurastrum Chodat 1921

Type species: *Pseudostaurastrum enorme* (Ralfs) Chodat (basionym: *Staurastrum enorme* Ralfs)

Tetrahedral or plate-like cells with typically four branched projections. Two species (*P. enorme*, *P. limneticum*) have been studied by modern methods confirming their classification within the Eustigmatophyceae; a few other described species (Ettl 1978) are very likely related given the highly characteristic morphology.

Genus Trachydiscus H. Ettl 1964

Type species: Trachydiscus lenticularis H. Ettl

Disc-shaped cells with the cell surface sculptured by numerous cell wall protuberances (warts, bulges, or papillae). Reclassification of this genus from the Xanthophyceae to the Eustigmatophyceae is based on a cytological, biochemical, and molecular genetic evidence for the species *Trachydiscus minutus* (Fig. 1; Přibyl et al. 2012). However, the additional six known *Trachydiscus* species, including the type species, are morphologically rather different from *T. minutus*, so it must yet to be confirmed whether they (and hence formally the genus *Trachydiscus* as such) belong to the Eustigmatophyceae and specifically to the *Goniochloridales*.

Genus Tetraëdriella Pascher 1930

Type species: Tetraëdriella acuta Pascher

Cells pyramidal or tetragonal with walls ornamented by regularly arranged rows of depressions. The genus *Tetraëdriella* is traditionally classified in Xanthophyceae (Ettl 1978) but is here included in eustigmatophytes, specifically as a member of Goniochloridales, based on the recent reinvestigation of the species *Tetraëdriella subglobosa* including evidence from its 18S rRNA gene sequence (Fawley and Fawley 2017; see also Fig. 1). The morphological features of other *Tetraëdriella* species, including the types species, suggest that they are related to *T. subglobosa*. Ultrastructural and molecular evidence for eustigmatophyte affinity of several other *Tetraëdriella* species was presented at a conference (Santos and Santos 2001) or mentioned in the literature (Ott et al. 2015), but the actual data are yet to be published.

Genus *Vacuoliviride* T. Nakayama, T. Nakamura, A. Yokoyama, T. Shiratori, I. Inouye & K.-I. Ishida 2015

Type species: *Vacuoliviride crystalliferum* T. Nakayama, T. Nakamura, A. Yokoyama, T. Shiratori, I. Inouye, and K.-I. Ishida

Vegetative cells solitary, nonmotile, spherical to ellipsoidal, $6-30 \ \mu m$ in diameter, and covered by smooth cell wall. Cells include refractile granules, a large vacuole, and a reddish globule, frequently with a rod- to V-shaped crystalline structure, one to several greenish chloroplasts possessing bulging pyrenoid with longitudinal slit. Cells reproduce by 2–8 autospores. So far monotypic.

Eustigmatophyceae Incertae sedis

Genus Botryochloropsis H.R. Preisig and C. Wilhelm 1989

Type species: Botryochloropsis similis H.R. Preisig and C. Wilhelm

Spherical cells in mucilage aggregated in irregular colonies, zoospores with two emergent flagella. Pyrenoid absent. No molecular data (and no authentic culture) are available for this genus, so its exact position within eustigmatophytes is unknown. So far monotypic.

Additional Eustigmatophytes

The actual diversity of eustigmatophytes is not restricted to the taxa listed above. The many unidentified strains that have been assigned to the Eustigmatophyceae based on their 18S rDNA (Fawley et al. 2014; Fig. 1) and rbcL (Prior et al. 2009) sequences illustrate the extent of the hitherto unnoticed diversity of this class. Many of these strains will probably prove to represent new taxa (species and even genera), but it is possible that others can eventually be identified as previously described species after a detailed scrutiny is carried out. Indeed, several algal taxa, traditionally classified in Xanthophyceae, have been occasionally considered as candidate members of Eustigmatophytes. For example, Hibberd (1981) admitted a possibility that *Pleurochloris commutata*, the type species of the genus *Pleurochloris*, may be a eustigmatophyte based on certain morphological features of vegetative cells and zoospores. Interestingly, most of the currently known eustigmatophytes were previously classified as members of the xanthophyte family Pleurochloridaceae comprising a large number of genera and species that have not been studied by modern methods. It is very likely that many additional members of the Pleurochloridaceae will eventually be reclassified to Eustigmatophyceae.

One of the taxa of Pleurochloridaceae with possible eustigmatophyte affinities is the genus *Chloridella* Pascher. 18S rRNA gene sequences were obtained from two strains nominally representing two species, *Chloridella neglecta* (the type species of the genus) and *Chloridella simplex*, showing that both algae belong to the tight *Vischeria/Eustigmatos* cluster (Fawley et al. 2014; Fig. 1). This led Ott et al. (2015) to classify *Chloridella* as a eustigmatophyte genus. However, neither of the two strains is authentic, and their morphology has not yet been properly studied to check the identification as provided in the respective culture collections. Whereas *C. simplex* indeed resembles *Eustigmatos* species (reportedly differing by the lack of zoospores), *C. neglecta* is more reminiscent of *Pleurochloris meiringensis*, a confirmed member of Xanthophyceae (Andreoli et al. 1999b). Thus, classifying *Chloridella* as a eustigmatophyte is premature, and critical revision of this genus is needed to clarify its circumscription and phylogenetic position. A few more genera (e.g., *Gloeobotrys, Gloeoskene*, or *Merismogloea*) were listed as candidate eustigmatophytes by Ott et al. (2015) based on the fact that they had been proposed to be synonymous with established eustigmatophytes or that some of their members (but not type species themselves) had been demonstrated to be eustigmatophytes.

Evidence for additional eustigmatophytes was informally presented at conferences, but bona fide publication of the data is still missing. Specifically, ultrastructural and molecular data were obtained from several strains from the ACOI collection identified as different species of the genus *Characiopsis*, indicating their eustigmatophyte nature (Santos and Santos 2001; Amaral et al. 2011, 2015). Indeed, *Characiopsis* was listed as a genus of eustigmatophytes by Ott et al. (2015), but this was based on an assumption that the alga known as Pseudocharaciopsis minuta (and belonging to Eustigmatophyceae; Fig. 1) is in fact the type species of Characiopsis Borzì. However, as discussed in detail by Hibberd (1981), the type species of the genus may actually be Characiopsis borziana Lemmermann, whose phylogenetic position remains unknown. Dashiell and Bailey (2009) announced a new eustigmatophyte genus ("Microtalis") with two new species and strains labeled "Microtalis aquatica Bailey, JC" and "Microtalis reticulata Bailey, JC" that are available from the National Center for Marine Algae and Microbiota (CCMP3153 and CCMP31547, respectively). Sequences of several genes from the former strain were published by Yang et al. (2012) and indicate that "Microtalis aquatica" is closely related to Trachydiscus minutus and several unidentified strains (Fig. 1). As mentioned above, T. minutus morphologically differs significantly from the type species of the genus Trachydiscus, so treating the clade including T. minutus and M. aquatica as a new genus may prove substantiated when characterization of the strains CCMP3153 and CCMP31547 is eventually published.

A few taxa have been assigned to the Eustigmatophyceae in error. Ophiocytium *maius* (strain CCAP 855/1) was suggested to be a eustigmatophyte based on its coxIsequence (Ehara et al. 1997). However, it has proven to be a misidentified member of the Vischeria/Eustigmatos cluster (Fig. 1); the genuine O. maius (strain SAG 855-1) is undoubtedly a xanthophyte (Maistro et al. 2009). Ott and Oldham-Ott (2003) included the genus *Ellipsoidion* in the Eustigmatophyceae, apparently because early reports on eustigmatophytes featured an alga (strain CCAP 822/1) then identified as Ellipsoidion acuminatum (Hibberd and Leedale 1970, 1971, 1972). However, Hibberd (1981) reexamined the strain and eventually identified it as Characiopsis ovalis, basing his taxonomic revision of the species name to Pseudocharaciopsis ovalis (Chodat) Hibberd. Thus, there is at present no evidence that *E. acuminatum* or the type species of the genus *Ellipsoidion*, *E. anulatum* Pascher, are eustigmatophytes; both species and the whole genus thus formally remain in the Xanthophyceae. Molecular data that were published for a single confidently identified *Ellipsoidion* species, the authentic strain of Ellipsoidion parvum, showed that this strain is a green alga conspecific with Neocystis brevis (Eliáš et al. 2013). Hence, the actual identity and phylogenetic position of the genus *Ellipsoidion* remain highly uncertain.

Maintenance and Cultivation

Eustigmatophytes presently maintained in culture collections were originally isolated using a wide variety of techniques. Single-cell isolation is possible for all the larger forms. Terrestrial and some freshwater species grow well on nutrient agar, and plating may also be used (Prior et al. 2010; Fawley et al. 2014). Agar plate techniques have been used to isolate the many new stains of freshwater Eustigmatophyceae that are presented in Fig. 1. For the minute forms, particularly when occurring in blooms, dilution techniques work well.

Cultures of freshwater and terrestrial species generally grow well in a wide variety of mineral media or in biphasic soil/water cultures where they may survive for many months, even years. Clonal cultures of most strains are available and stocks are most conveniently maintained on nutrient agar slants containing dilute (e.g., Chu No. 10) or rich (e.g., Bold's Basal Medium) media (Nichols 1973). Two of the authors have had success isolating and maintaining Eustigmatophyceae on the highnutrient medium, WH+ (Fawley et al. 1990; Fawley et al. 2014), and the low-nutrient medium originally designed for chrysophytes, DYIV (Andersen et al. 1997). The ACOI Collection of Algae holds ca. 80 strains of eustigmatophytes (Santos and Santos 2004) that have been kept for 15 years in liquid Desmidiacean medium M7 (for chemical composition, see Schlösser 1994), with a controlled pH of 6.4-6.6. This is a suitable medium for all strains, but relatively slow growth is observed for sensitive genera, namely, *Pseudostaurastrum*, Tetraëdriella, Chlorobotrys, and Goniochloris. A new medium composed of a one tenth dilution of WH+ with 0.1 g^{-1} MES buffer at pH 5.5 (Karen and Marvin Fawley, unpublished) is proving effective for isolating Eustigmatophyceae from acid environments. Marine forms grow easily in standard seawater media such as Erdschreiber or ASP2 (Provasoli et al. 1957), either as standing liquid batch cultures or on agar slants for stock cultures. These forms tolerate a wide range of salinity and a half-normal salinity or even a freshwater medium is usually more convenient for maintenance of stocks. Cryopreservation has been successfully tested for several eustigmatophyte species (Osório et al. 2004; Gwo et al. 2005).

Evolutionary History

There is no fossil record known for eustigmatophytes; hence, reconstruction of their evolutionary origin and diversification has relied solely on comparative analyses of morphological, biochemical, and molecular characters. All these characters firmly place eustigmatophytes into a broader group of ochrophyte (or heterokontophyte) algae, which in turn form a prominent clade within stramenopiles (or heterokonts) (Santos and Leedale 1991; Andersen et al. 1998; Andersen 2004). Phylogenetic analyses of multigene matrices generally indicate that Eustigmatophyceae are a sister group of a clade comprising Chrysophyceae (incl. Synurophyceae) and

Synchromophyceae, altogether forming the group Limnista (Yang et al. 2012; Ševčíková et al. 2015). However, the recent analysis of stramenopile phylogeny based on a 245-protein dataset and including sequences from *Nannochloropsis gaditana* as a representative eustigmatophyte placed this organism closer to Raphidophyceae and the PX clade (Phaeophyceae plus Xanthophyceae), although with unconvincing statistical support (Noguchi et al. 2016). The phylogenetic position of eustigmatophytes among ochrophytes thus needs to be further tested.

Phylogenetic relationships within eustigmatophytes have been investigated primarily with the aid of 18S rRNA gene sequences, which confirmed eustigmatophyte monophyly (Andersen et al. 1998) and revealed the existence of two principal deeply separated subgroups, Goniochloridales and Eustigmatales (Fig. 1; Přibyl et al. 2012; Fawley et al. 2014). Relationships within the *Goniochloridales* are not yet clear: however, four clades within this lineage are supported by analysis of the 18S rRNA gene sequence data (Fig. 1). Within the latter subgroup, three major lineages can be recognized (their names here follow the nomenclature introduced by Fawley et al. 2014): Eustigmataceae group, Monodopsidaceae, and Pseudoellipsoidion group. Each group is well supported by analyses of 18S rRNA gene sequences, but their relative branching order needs to be established using a higher number of molecular markers. The phylogenetic position of *Botryochloropsis similis* is unknown given the absence of molecular data. However, a characteristic combination of morphological features documented for this species by Preisig and Wilhelm (1989), specifically the presence of an evespot, zoospores with two flagella, and plastids with no pyrenoid, suggests that *B. similis* possibly belongs to the *Pseudellipsoidion* group.

Even though incomplete, the phylogenetic tree reconstructed for eustigmatophytes enables some inferences about evolutionary trends in this group. First, eustigmatophytes apparently emerged in a freshwater or terrestrial habitat and frequent transitions between these two habitat types seem to have occurred during their evolution, whereas the *Nannochloropsis* lineage secondarily moved to the sea, from which the species N. limnetica came back to the freshwater. Second, since an eyespot is altogether absent in all species of the Goniochloridales clade investigated so far (Schnepf et al. 1996; Přibyl et al. 2012) as well as in Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae (Hegewald et al. 2007), it is actually possible that the characteristic extraplastidial eyespot, regarded as one of the defining features of the whole eustigmatophyte class, arose only after some eustigmatophyte lineages had diverged. Third, zoospores were presumably lost independently in the lineages leading to Nannochloropsis and to Monodopsis, since they have been retained by Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae (Hegewald et al. 2007). Fourth, up to three independent losses of the continuity between the plastid ER and the nuclear envelope can be inferred to have occurred (in the Goniochloridales, in the Eustigmatophyceae group, and in the Pseudellipsoidion group). Fifth, species with zoospores with a single emergent flagellum (Vischeria/Eustigmatos cluster, Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae, members of the Goniochloridales with zoospore morphology investigated in detail, and potentially also *Pseudellipsoidion edaphicum*) do not form a monophyletic grouping, which indicates multiple independent losses of the posterior flagellum. Altogether, the evolutionary history of eustigmatophytes appears complex and heavily influenced by homoplasy. A more detailed reconstruction remains a task for the future, with the very real possibility of a greatly expanded number of taxa included in the class.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of the following institutions and funding programs: Czech Science Foundation (project 13-33039S to M.E.), project LO1208 of the National Feasibility Programme I of the Czech Republic (to M.E. and T.Š.), National Science Foundation (grant number DEB1145414 to K.P.F. and M.W.F.), Arkansas INBRE program through a grant (P20 GM103429) from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health (to K.P.F. and M.W.F.), Arkansas Space Grant Consortium (to K.P.F. and M.W. F.), a University of Arkansas at Monticello Faculty Research Grant (to K.P.F.), Technology Agency of the Czech Republic (project TE01020080 to P.P.), long-term research development project of the Institute of Botany CAS no. RVO 67985939 (to P.P.), and Portuguese Science and Technology Agency (FCT) through PhD funding SFRH/BD/73359/ 2010 under POPH/QREN financing program (to R.A.).

References

- Aburai, N., Ohkubo, S., Miyashita, H., & Abe, K. (2013). Composition of carotenoids and identification of aerial microalgae isolated from the surface of rocks in mountainous districts of Japan. *Algal Research*, 2, 237–247.
- Adl, S. M., Simpson, A. G., Lane, C. E., Lukeš, J., Bass, D., Bowser, S. S., Brown, M. W., Burki, F., Dunthorn, M., Hampl, V., Heiss, A., Hoppenrath, M., Lara, E., Le Gall, L., Lynn, D. H., McManus, H., Mitchell, E. A., Mozley-Stanridge, S. E., Parfrey, L. W., Pawlowski, J., Rueckert, S., Shadwick, L., Schoch, C. L., Smirnov, A., & Spiegel, F. W. (2012). The revised classification of eukaryotes. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, *59*, 429–493.
- Alboresi, A., Perin, G., Vitulo, N., Diretto, G., Block, M., Jouhet, J., Meneghesso, A., Valle, G., Giuliano, G., Maréchal, E., & Morosinotto, T. (2016). Light remodels lipid biosynthesis in *Nannochloropsis gaditana* by modulating carbon partitioning between organelles. *Plant Physiology*, 171, 2468–2482.
- Alboresi, A., Le Quiniou, C., Yadav, S. K., Scholz, M., Meneghesso, A., Gerotto, C., Simionato, D., Hippler, M., Boekema, E. J., Croce, R., & Morosinotto, T. (2017). Conservation of core complex subunits shaped the structure and function of photosystem I in the secondary endosymbiont alga *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. *New Phytologist*, 213, 714–726.
- Amaral, R., Elias, M., Santos, L., & Santos, M. F. (2011). Molecular and microscopic evidence place microalgal species of *Characiopsis* into the Eustigmatophyceae. *European Journal of Phycology*, 46(Suppl 1), 136.
- Amaral, R., Fawley, K. P., Němcová, Y., Ševčíková, T., Lukešová, A., Santos, L. M. A., Fawley, M. W., & Eliáš, M. (2015). Diversity and revised taxonomy of the *Pseudellipsoidion* group – A recently recognized major clade of eustigmatophyte algae. *European Journal of Phycology*, 50 (Suppl 1), 133.
- Andersen, R. A. (2004). Biology and systematics of heterokont and haptophyte algae. American Journal of Botany, 91, 1508–1522.
- Andersen, R. A., Morton, S. L., & Sexton, J. P. (1997). Provasoli-Guillard National Center for Culture of Marine Phytoplankton 1997. List of strains. *Journal of Phycology*, 33(Suppl), 1–75.
- Andersen, R. A., Brett, R. W., Potter, D., & Sexton, J. P. (1998). Phylogeny of the Eustigmatophyceae based upon 18S rDNA, with emphasis on *Nannochloropsis*. Protist, 149, 61–74.
- Andreoli, C., Bresciani, E., Moro, I., Scarabel, L., La Rocca, N., Dalla Valle, L., & Ghion, F. (1999a). A survey on a persistent greenish bloom in the Comacchio lagoons (Ferrara, Italy). *Botanica Marina*, 42, 467–479.

- Andreoli, C., Moro, I., La Rocca, N., Rigoni, F., Dalla Valle, L., & Bargelloni, L. (1999b). *Pseudopleurochloris antarctica* gen. et sp. nov., a new coccoid xanthophycean from pack-ice of Wood Bay (Ross Sea, Antarctica): Ultrastructure, pigments and 18S rRNA gene sequence. *European Journal of Phycology*, 34, 149–159.
- Antia, N. J., Bisalputra, T., Cheng, J. Y., & Kalley, J. P. (1975). Pigment and cytological evidence for reclassification of *Nannochloris oculata* and *Monallantus salina* in the Eustigmatophyceae. *Journal of Phycology*, 11, 339–343.
- Assunção, M. F., Amaral, R., Martins, C. B., Ferreira, J. D., da Ressurreicao, S., Santos, S. D., Varejão, J. M. T. B., & Santos, L. (2016). Screening microalgae as potential sources of antioxidants. *Journal of Applied Phycology*. doi:10.1007/s10811-016-0980-7.
- Bartley, M. L., Boeing, W. J., Dungan, B. N., Holguin, F. O., & Schaub, T. (2014). pH effects on growth and lipid accumulation of the biofuel microalgae *Nannochloropsis salina* and invading organisms. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 26, 1431–1437.
- Basso, S., Simionato, D., Gerotto, C., Segalla, A., Giacometti, G. M., & Morosinotto, T. (2014). Characterization of the photosynthetic apparatus of the Eustigmatophycean *Nannochloropsis* gaditana: Evidence of convergent evolution in the supramolecular organization of photosystem I. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1837, 306–314.
- Bhattacharya, D., Medlin, L., Wainright, P. O., Ariztia, E. V., Bibeau, C., Stickel, S. K., & Sogin, M. L. (1992). Algae containing chlorophylls a + c are paraphyletic: Molecular evolutionary analysis of the Chromophyta. *Evolution*, 46, 1801–1817.
- Bielewicz, S., Bell, E., Kong, W., Friedberg, I., Priscu, J. C., & Morgan-Kiss, R. M. (2011). Protist diversity in a permanently ice-covered Antarctic Lake during the polar night transition. *ISME Journal*, 5, 1559–1564.
- Bína, D., Gardian, Z., Herbstová, M., & Litvín, R. (2016). Modular antenna of photosystem I in secondary plastids of red algal origin: A *Nannochloropsis oceanica* case study. *Photosynthesis Research.* doi:10.1007/s11120-016-0315-1.
- Bína, D., Bouda, K., & Litvín, R. (2017). A two-component nonphotochemical fluorescence quenching in eustigmatophyte algae. *Photosynthesis Research*, 131, 65–77.
- Bourrelly, P. (1958). Note systematique sur quelques algues microscopiques des cuvettes supralittorales de la région de Dinard. Bulletin du Laboratoire Maritime de Dinard, 43, 111–118.
- Büdel, B., Darienko, T., Deutschewitz, K., Dojani, S., Friedl, T., Mohr, K. I., Salisch, M., Reisser, W., & Weber, B. (2009). Southern African biological soil crusts are ubiquitous and highly diverse in drylands, being restricted by rainfall frequency. *Microbial Ecology*, 57, 229–247.
- Carbonera, D., Agostini, A., Di Valentin, M., Gerotto, C., Basso, S., Giacometti, G. M., & Morosinotto, T. (2014). Photoprotective sites in the violaxanthin-chlorophyll a binding Protein (VCP) from *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1837, 1235–1246.
- Cavalier-Smith, T., & Chao, E. E. (2006). Phylogeny and megasystematics of phagotrophic heterokonts (kingdom Chromista). *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 62, 388–420.
- Cepák, V., Přibyl, P., Kohoutková, J., & Kaštánek, P. (2014). Optimization of cultivation conditions for fatty acid composition and EPA production in the eustigmatophycean microalga *Trachydiscus minutus. Journal of Applied Phycology*, 26, 181–190.
- Chen, H. L., Li, S. S., Huang, R., & Tsai, H. J. (2008). Conditional production of a functional fish growth hormone in the transgenic line of *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Eustigmatophyceae). *Journal of Phycology*, 44, 768–776.
- Cohen, Z. (1994). Production potential of eicosapentaenoic acid by *Monodus subterraneus*. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 71, 941–945.
- Corteggiani Carpinelli, E., Telatin, A., Vitulo, N., Forcato, C., D'Angelo, M., Schiavon, R., Vezzi, A., Giacometti, G. M., Morosinotto, T., & Valle, G. (2014). Chromosome scale genome assembly and transcriptome profiling of *Nannochloropsis gaditana* in nitrogen depletion. *Molecular Plant*, 7, 323–335.
- Czerwik-Marcinkowska, J., & Mrozinska, T. (2009). Epilithic algae from caves of the Krakowsko-Czestochowska upland (Southern Poland). Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae, 78, 301–309.

- Dashiell, C., & Bailey, J. (2009). New observations on the biology of eustigmatophytes, with a description of *Microtalis* gen. nov. *Journal of Phycology*, 45(Suppl 1), 8.
- Doan, T. T. Y., & Obbard, J. P. (2012). Enhanced intracellular lipid in Nannochloropsis sp. via random mutagenesis and flow cytometric cell sorting. Algal Research, 1, 17–21.
- Duerr, E. O., Molnar, A., & Sato, V. (1998). Cultured microalgae as aquaculture feeds. *Journal of Marine Biotechnology*, 6, 65–70.
- Durmaz, Y. (2007). Vitamin E (α -tocopherol) production by the marine microalgae *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Eustigmatophyceae) in nitrogen limitation. *Aquaculture*, 272, 717–722.
- Ehara, M., Hayashi-Ishimaru, Y., Inagaki, Y., & Ohama, T. (1997). Use of a deviant mitochondrial genetic code in yellow-green algae as a landmark for segregating members within the phylum. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 45, 119–124.
- Eliáš, M., Neustupa, J., Pažoutová, M., & Škaloud, P. (2013). A case of taxonomic inflation in coccoid algae: *Ellipsoidion parvum* and *Neocystis vischeri* are conspecific with *Neocystis* (=*Nephrodiella*) brevis (Chlorophyta, Trebouxiophyceae). *Phytotaxa*, 76, 15–27.
- Ettl, H. (1978). Xanthophyceae. In H. Ettl, H. J. Gerloff, H. Heynig, (Eds.), Süsswasserflora von Mitteleuropa (Band 3, 1. Teil, pp. 1–530). Stuttgart: Gustav Fischer Verlag.
- Ettl, H., & Gärtner, G. (1995). Syllabus der Boden-, Luft- und Flechtenalgen. Stuttgart: Gustav Fischer Verlag.
- Fawley, K. P., & Fawley, M. W. (2007). Observations on the diversity and ecology of freshwater Nannochloropsis (Eustigmatophyceae), with descriptions of new taxa. Protist, 158, 325–336.
- Fawley, M. W., & Fawley, K. P. (2017). Rediscovery of *Tetraëdriella subglobosa* Pascher, a member of the Eustigmatophyceae. *Fottea*. doi:10.5507/fot.2016.018.
- Fawley, M. W., Douglas, C. A., Stewart, K. D., & Mattox, K. R. (1990). Light-harvesting pigmentprotein complexes of the Ulvophyceae (Chlorophyta): Characterization and phylogenetic significance. *Journal of Phycology*, 26, 186–195.
- Fawley, K. P., Eliáš, M., & Fawley, M. W. (2014). The diversity and phylogeny of the commercially important algal class Eustigmatophyceae, including the new clade *Goniochloridales*. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 26, 1773–1782.
- Fawley, M. W., Jameson, I., & Fawley, K. P. (2015). The phylogeny of the genus Nannochloropsis (Monodopsidaceae, Eustigmatophyceae), with descriptions of N. australis sp. nov. and Microchloropsis gen. nov. Phycologia, 54, 545–552.
- Ferreira, M., Coutinho, P., Seixas, P., Fábregas, J., & Otero, A. (2009). Enriching rotifers with "premium" microalgae, *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. *Marine Biotechnology*, 11, 585–595.
- Fietz, S., Bleiss, W., Hepperle, D., Koppitz, H., Krienitz, L., & Nicklisch, A. (2005). First record of Nannochloropsis limnetica (Eustigmatophyceae) in the autotrophic picoplankton from Lake Baikal. Journal of Phycology, 41, 780–790.
- Flechtner, V. R., Johansen, J. R., & Clark, W. H. (1998). Algal composition of microbiotic crusts from the Central Desert of Baja California, Mexico. *Great Basin Naturalist*, 58, 295–311.
- Frost, T. M., Graham, L. E., Elias, J. E., Haase, M. J., Kretchmer, D. W., & Kranzfelder, J. A. (1997). A yellow-green algal symbiont in the freshwater sponge, *Corvomeyenia everetti*: Convergent evolution of symbiotic associations. *Freshwater Biology*, 38, 395–399.
- Fukuda, S. Y., Iwamoto, K., Atsumi, M., Yokoyama, A., Nakayama, T., Ishida, K., Inouye, I., & Shiraiwa, Y. (2014). Global searches for microalgae and aquatic plants that can eliminate radioactive cesium, iodine and strontium from the radio-polluted aquatic environment: A bioremediation strategy. *Journal of Plant Research*, 127, 79–89.
- Fulnečková, J., Ševčíková, T., Fajkus, J., Lukešová, A., Lukeš, M., Vlček, Č., Lang, B. F., Kim, E., Eliáš, M., & Sýkorová, E. (2013). A broad phylogenetic survey unveils the diversity and evolution of telomeres in eukaryotes. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 5, 468–483.
- Gao, B., Yang, J., Lei, X., Xia, S., Li, A., & Zhang, C. (2016). Characterization of cell structural change, growth, lipid accumulation, and pigment profile of a novel oleaginous microalga, *Vischeria stellata* (Eustigmatophyceae), cultured with different initial nitrate supplies. *Journal* of Applied Phycology, 28, 821–830.

- Gentile, M. P., & Blanch, H. W. (2001). Physiology and xanthophyll cycle activity of Nannochloropsis gaditana. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 75, 1–12.
- Ghosh, S., & Love, N. G. (2011). Application of *rbcL* based molecular diversity analysis to algae in wastewater treatment plants. *Bioresource Technology*, 102, 3619–3622.
- Graham, J. E., Wilcox, L. W., & Graham, L. E. (2008). *Algae* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Benjamin Cummings.
- Gwo, J. C., Chiu, J. Y., Chou, C. C., & Cheng, H. Y. (2005). Cryopreservation of a microalga, Nannochloropsis oculata (Eustigmatophyceae). Cryobiology, 50, 338–343.
- Hashimoto, H. (2004). Mitochondrion-dividing ring in an alga Nannochloropsis oculata (Eustigmatophyceae, Heterokonta). Cytologia, 69, 323–326.
- Hegewald, E., Padisák, J., & Friedl, T. (2007). *Pseudotetraëdriella kamillae*: Taxonomy and ecology of a new member of the algal class Eustigmatophyceae (Stramenopiles). *Hydrobiologia*, 586, 107–116.
- Hibberd, D. J. (1974). Observations on the cytology and ultrastructure of *Chlorobotrys regularis* (West) Bohlin with special reference to its position in the Eustigmatophyceae. *British Phycological Journal*, 9, 37–46.
- Hibberd, D. J. (1980). Eustigmatophyceae. In E. R. Cox (Ed.), *Phytoflagellates: Form and function* (pp. 319–334). New York: Elsevier/North Holland.
- Hibberd, D. J. (1981). Notes on the taxonomy and nomenclature of the algal classes Eustigmatophyceae and Tribophyceae (synonym Xanthophyceae). *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 82, 93–119.
- Hibberd, D. J. (1982). Eustigmatophyceae: Introduction and bibliography. In J. R. Rosowski & B. C. Parker (Eds.), *Selected papers in phycology II* (pp. 728–730). Lawrence: Phycological Society of America.
- Hibberd, D. J. (1990). Eustigmatophyta. In L. Margulis, J. O. Corliss, M. Melkonian, & D. J. Chapman (Eds.), *Handbook of protoctista* (pp. 326–333). Boston: Jones & Bartlett Pub.
- Hibberd, D. J., & Leedale, G. F. (1970). Eustigmatophyceae a new algal class with unique organization of the motile cell. *Nature*, 225, 758–760.
- Hibberd, D. J., & Leedale, G. F. (1971). A new algal class The Eustigmatophyceae. *Taxon, 20*, 523–525.
- Hibberd, D. J., & Leedale, G. F. (1972). Observations on the cytology and ultrastructure of the new algal class, Eustigmatophyceae. *Annals of Botany*, *36*, 49–71.
- Hoshida, H., Ohira, T., Minematsu, A., Akada, R., & Nishizawa, Y. (2005). Accumulation of eicosapentaenoic acid in *Nannochloropsis* sp. in response to elevated CO₂ concentrations. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 17, 29–34.
- Hu, Q., Hu, Z., Cohen, Z., & Richmond, A. (1997). Enhancement of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and γ-linolenic acid (GLA) production by manipulating cell density in outdoor cultures of *Monodus subterraneus* (Eustigmatophyte) and *Spirulina platensis* (Cyanobacterium). *European Journal of Phycology*, 32, 81–88.
- Hu, Y. R., Wang, F., Wang, S. K., Liu, C. Z., & Guo, C. (2013). Efficient harvesting of marine microalgae Nannochloropsis maritima using magnetic nanoparticles. Bioresource Technology, 138, 387–390.
- Hu, J., Wang, D., Li, J., Jing, G., Ning, K., & Xu, J. (2014). Genome-wide identification of transcription factors and transcription-factor binding sites in oleaginous microalgae *Nannochloropsis. Scientific Reports*, 4, 5454.
- Iliev, I., Petkov, G., Lukavský, J., Furnadzhieva, S., Andreeva, R., & Bankova, V. (2010). The alga Trachydiscus minutus (Pseudostaurastrum minutum): Growth and composition. General and Applied Plant Physiology, 36, 222–231.
- Iwai, M., Hori, K., Sasaki-Sekimoto, Y., Shimojima, M., & Ohta, H. (2015). Manipulation of oil synthesis in *Nannochloropsis* strain NIES-2145 with a phosphorus starvation – Inducible promoter from *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6, 912.
- Jiang, L., Luo, S., Fan, X., Yang, Z., & Guo, R. (2011). Biomass and lipid production of marine microalgae using municipal wastewater and high concentration of CO₂. *Applied Energy*, 88, 3336–3341.

- Jinkerson, R. E., Radakovits, R., & Posewitz, M. C. (2013). Genomic insights from the oleaginous model alga Nannochloropsis gaditana. Bioengineered, 4, 37–43.
- Jo, M. J., & Hur, S. B. (2015). Growth and nutritional composition of Eustigmatophyceae Monodus subterraneus and Nannochloropsis oceanica in autotrophic and mixotrophic culture. Ocean and Polar Research, 37, 61–71.
- John, D. M. (2011). Phylum Eustigmatophytea. In D. M. John, B. A. Whitton, & A. J. Brook (Eds.), *The freshwater Algal Flora of the British Isles* (2nd ed., pp. 346–347). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Karlson, B., Potter, D., Kuylenstierna, M., & Andersen, R. A. (1996). Ultrastructure, pigment composition, and 18S rRNA gene sequence for *Nannochloropsis granulata* sp. nov. (Monodopsidaceae, Eustigmatophyceae), a marine ultraplankter isolated from the Skagerrak, northeast Atlantic Ocean. *Phycologia*, 35, 253–260.
- Kaye, Y., Grundman, O., Leu, S., Zarka, A., Zorin, B., Didi-Cohen, S., Khozin-Goldberg, I., & Boussiba, S. (2015). Metabolic engineering toward enhanced LC-PUFA biosynthesis in *Nannochloropsis oceanica*: Overexpression of endogenous Δ12 desaturase driven by stressinducible promoter leads to enhanced deposition of polyunsaturated fatty acids in TAG. *Algal Research*, 11, 387–398.
- Keşan, G., Litvín, R., Bína, D., Durchan, M., Šlouf, V., & Polívka, T. (2016). Efficient lightharvesting using non-carbonyl carotenoids: Energy transfer dynamics in the VCP complex from *Nannochloropsis oceanica. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1857, 370–379.
- Khozin-Goldberg, I., & Cohen, Z. (2006). The effect of phosphate starvation on the lipid and fatty acid composition of the fresh water eustigmatophyte *Monodus subterraneus*. *Phytochemistry*, 67, 696–701.
- Kilian, O., Benemann, C. S., Niyogi, K. K., & Vick, B. (2011). High-efficiency homologous recombination in the oil-producing alga Nannochloropsis sp. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108, 21265–21269.
- Kim, K. M., Park, J. H., Bhattacharya, D., & Yoon, H. S. (2014). Applications of next-generation sequencing to unravelling the evolutionary history of algae. *International Journal of Systematic* and Evolutionary Microbiology, 64, 333–345.
- Krienitz, L., & Wirth, M. (2006). The high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids in *Nannochloropsis limnetica* (Eustigmatophyceae) and its implication for food web interactions, freshwater aquaculture and biotechnology. *Limnologica*, 36, 204–210.
- Krienitz, L., Hepperle, D., Stich, H.-B., & Weiler, W. (2000). Nannochloropsis limnetica (Eustigmatophyceae), a new species of picoplankton from freshwater. Phycologia, 39, 219–227.
- Lara, E., Mitchell, E. A., Moreira, D., & García, P. L. (2011). Highly diverse and seasonally dynamic protist community in a pristine peat bog. *Protist*, 162, 14–32.
- Lee, K. W., & Bold, H. C. (1973). Pseudocharaciopsis texensis gen. nov. et sp. nov., a new member of the Eustigmatophyceae. British Phycological Journal, 8, 31–37.
- Leger, M. M., Petrů, M., Žárský, V., Eme, L., Vlček, Č., Harding, T., Lang, B. F., Eliáš, M., Doležal, P., & Roger, A. J. (2015). An ancestral bacterial division system is widespread in eukaryotic mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112, 10239–10246.
- Li, Y., Lian, S., Tong, D., Song, R., Yang, W., Fan, Y., Qing, R., & Hu, C. (2011). One-step production of biodiesel from *Nannochloropsis* sp. on solid base Mg–Zr catalyst. *Applied Energy*, 88, 3313–3317.
- Li, Z., Ma, X., Li, A., & Zhang, C. (2012a). A novel potential source of β-carotene: *Eustigmatos* cf. *polyphem* (Eustigmatophyceae) and pilot β-carotene production in bubble column and flat panel photobioreactors. *Bioresource Technology*, *117*, 257–263.
- Li, Z., Sun, M., Li, Q., Li, A., & Zhang, C. (2012b). Profiling of carotenoids in six microalgae (Eustigmatophyceae) and assessment of their β-carotene productions in bubble column photobioreactor. *Biotechnology Letters*, 34, 2049–2053.
- Li, F., Gao, D., & Hu, H. (2014a). High-efficiency nuclear transformation of the oleaginous marine Nannochloropsis species using PCR product. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 78, 812–817.

- Li, J., Han, D., Wang, D., Ning, K., Jia, J., Wei, L., Jing, X., Huang, S., Chen, J., Li, Y., Hu, Q., & Xu, J. (2014b). Choreography of transcriptomes and lipidomes of *Nannochloropsis* reveals the mechanisms of oil synthesis in microalgae. *Plant Cell*, 26, 1645–1665.
- Litvín, R., Bína, D., Herbstová, M., & Gardian, Z. (2016). Architecture of the light-harvesting apparatus of the eustigmatophyte alga *Nannochloropsis oceanica*. *Photosynthesis Research*, 130, 137–150.
- Lu, Y., & Xu, J. (2015). Phytohormones in microalgae: A new opportunity for microalgal biotechnology? *Trends in Plant Science*, 20, 273–282.
- Lu, C. M., Rao, K., Hall, D., & Vonshak, A. (2001). Production of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in *Monodus subterraneus* grown in a helical tubular photobioreactor as affected by cell density and light intensity. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 13, 517–522.
- Lu, Y., Tarkowská, D., Turečková, V., Luo, T., Xin, Y., Li, J., Wang, Q., Jiao, N., Strnad, M., & Xu, J. (2014). Antagonistic roles of abscisic acid and cytokinin during response to nitrogen depletion in oleaginous microalga *Nannochloropsis oceanica* expand the evolutionary breadth of phytohormone function. *Plant Journal*, 80, 52–68.
- Lubián, L. M. (1982). Nannochloropsis gaditana sp. nov., una nueva Eustigmatophyceae marina. Lazaroa, 4, 287–293.
- Lubián, L. M., & Montero, O. (1998). Excess light-induced violaxalathin cycle activity in Nannochloropsis gaditana (Eustigmatophyceae): Effects of exposure time and temperature. *Phycologia*, 37, 16–23.
- Lubián, L. M., Montero, O., Moreno-Garrido, I., Huertas, I. E., Sobrino, E., Valle, M. G., & Parés, G. (2000). *Nannochloropsis* (Eustigmatophyceae) as source of commercially valuable pigments. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 12, 249–255.
- Ma, X. N., Chen, T. P., Yang, B., Liu, J., & Chen, F. (2016). Lipid production from Nannochloropsis. Marine Drugs, 14, E61.
- Maistro, S., Broady, P. A., Andreoli, C., & Negrisolo, E. (2009). Phylogeny and taxonomy of Xanthophyceae (Stramenopiles, Chromalveolata). *Protist*, 160, 412–426.
- Meng, Y., Jiang, J., Wang, H., Cao, X., Xue, S., Yang, Q., & Wang, W. (2015). The characteristics of TAG and EPA accumulation in *Nannochloropsis oceanica* IMET1 under different nitrogen supply regimes. *Bioresource Technology*, 179, 483–489.
- Mohammady, N. G. D., Chen, Y. C., El-Mahdy, A. A., Mohammad, R. F., & Mohammady, E. D. (2004). Temporal alterations of *Nannochloropsis salina* (Eustigmatophyceae) grown under aqueous diesel fuel stress. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 17, 161–170.
- Moog, D., Stork, S., Reislöhner, S., Grosche, C., & Maier, U. G. (2015). In vivo localization studies in the stramenopile alga *Nannochloropsis oceanica*. *Protist*, 166, 161–171.
- Moreno-Garrido, I., Codd, G. A., Gadd, G. M., & Lubián, L. M. (2002). Cu and Zn accumulation by calcium alginate immobilized marine microalgal cells of *Nannochloropsis gaditana* (Eustigmatophyceae). *Ciencias Marinas*, 28, 107–119.
- Murakami, R., & Hashimoto, H. (2009). Unusual nuclear division in *Nannocholoropsis oculata* (Eustigmatophyceae, Heterokonta) which may ensure faithful transmission of secondary plastids. *Protist*, 160, 41–49.
- Nakano, T., Handa, S., & Takeshita, S. (1991). Some corticolous algae from the Taishaku-kyô Gorge, western Japan. Nova Hedwigia, 52, 427–451.
- Nakayama, T., Nakamura, A., Yokoyama, A., Shiratori, T., Inouye, I., & Ishida, K. (2015). Taxonomic study of a new eustigmatophycean alga, *Vacuoliviride crystalliferum* gen. et sp. nov. *Journal of Plant Research*, 128, 249–257.
- Neustupa, J., & Němcová, Y. (2001). Morphological and taxonomic study for three terrestrial eustigmatophycean species. *Nova Hedwigia*, *123*, 373–386.
- Neustupa, J., & Škaloud, P. (2010). Diversity of subaerial algae and cyanobacteria growing on bark and wood in the lowland tropical forests of Singapore. *Plant Ecology and Evolution*, 143, 51–62.
- Nichols, H. W. (1973). Growth media freshwater. In J. R. Stein (Ed.), Handbook of phycological methods, culture methods and growth measurements (pp. 7–24). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Noguchi, F., Tanifuji, G., Brown, M. W., Fujikura, K., & Takishita, K. (2016). Complex evolution of two types of cardiolipin synthase in the eukaryotic lineage stramenopiles. *Molecular Phylo*genetics and Evolution, 101, 133–141.
- Okuda, K., Sekida, S., Yoshinaga, S., & Suetomo, Y. (2004). Cellulose-synthesizing complexes in some chromophyte algae. *Cellulose*, 11, 365–376.
- Osório, H. C., Laranjeiro, C. N., Santos, L. M. A., & Santos, F. M. (2004). First attempts to cryopreserve strains from the Coimbra Collection of Algae (ACOI) and the use of image analysis to assess viability. *Nova Hedwigia*, 79, 227–235.
- Ott, D. W., & Oldham-Ott, C. K. (2003). Eustigmatophyceae, Raphidophyceae, and Tribophyceae. In: J. D. Wehr & R. G. Sheath (Eds.), Freshwater Algae of North America (pp. 423–469). Academic Press: San Diego, Ca.
- Ott, D. W., Oldham-Ott, C. K., Rybalka, N., & Friedl, T. (2015). Xanthophyte, Eustigmatophyte, and Raphidophyte Algae. In J. D. Wehr, R. G. Sheath, & J. P. Kociolek (Eds.), *Freshwater Algae* of north America. Ecology and classification (pp. 485–536). Amsterdam: Academic (an imprint of Elsevier).
- Owens, T. G., Gallagher, J. C., & Alberte, R. S. (1987). Photosynthetic light harvesting function of violaxanthin in Nannochloropsis spp. (Eustigmatophyceae). Journal of Phycology, 23, 79–85.
- Pal, D., Khozin-Goldberg, I., Cohen, Z., & Boussiba, S. (2011). The effect of light, salinity, and nitrogen availability on lipid production by *Nannochloropsis* sp. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 90, 1429–1441.
- Pan, K., Qin, J., Li, S., Dai, W., Zhu, B., Jin, Y., Yu, W., Yang, G., & Li, D. (2011). Nuclear monoploidy and asexual propagation of *Nannochloropsis oceanica* (Eustigmatophyceae) as revealed by its genome sequence. *Journal of Phycology*, 47, 1425–1432.
- Pascher A. (1930). Zur Kenntnis der heterokonten Algen. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 69, 401-451.
- Pascher, A. (1939). Heterokonten. In L. Rabenhorst's Kryptogamen-Flora von Deutschland, Österreichs und der Schweiz (Vol. XI, 2nd ed.). Leipzig: Akad. Verlagsges.
- Patil, V., Källqvist, T., Olsen, E., Vogt, G., & Gislerød, H. R. (2007). Fatty acid composition of 12 microalgae for possible use in aquaculture feed. *Aquaculture International*, 15, 1–9.
- Patterson, G. W., Tsitsa-Tzardis, E., Wikfors, G. H., Smith, B. C., & Gladu, P. K. (1994). Sterols of Eustigmatophytes. *Lipids*, 29, 661–664.
- Petersen, J. B. (1932). Einige neue Erdalgen. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 76, 95-408.
- Pfeiffer, T. J., & Ludwig, G. M. (2007). Small-scale system for the mass production of rotifers using algal paste. North American Journal of Aquaculture, 69, 239–243.
- Preisig, H. R., & Wilhelm, C. (1989). Ultrastructure, pigments and taxonomy of *Botryochloropsis* similis gen. et sp. nov (Eustigmatophyceae). *Phycologia*, 28, 61–69.
- Přibyl, P., Eliáš, M., Cepák, V., Lukavský, J., & Kaštánek, P. (2012). Zoosporogenesis, morphology, ultrastructure, pigment composition, and phylogenetic position of *Trachydiscus minutus* (Eustigmatophyceae, Heterokontophyta). *Journal of Phycology*, 48, 231–242.
- Prior, S. E., Fawley, M. W., & Fawley, K. P. (2009). DNA sequence analysis of freshwater Eustigmatophyceae, a potential source of essential fatty acids. *Journal of the Arkansas Academy* of Science, 63, 139–144.
- Provasoli, L., McLaughlin, J. J. A., & Droop, M. R. (1957). The development of artificial media for marine algae. Archiv für Mikrobiologie, 25, 392–428.
- Qiang, H., Zhengyu, H., Cohen, Z., & Richmond, A. (1997). Enhancement of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and γ-linolenic acid (GLA) production by manipulating algal density of outdoor cultures of *Monodus subterraneus* (Eustigmatophyta) and *Spirulina platensis* (Cyanobacteria). *European Journal of Phycology*, 32, 81–86.
- Radakovits, R., Jinkerson, R. E., Fuerstenberg, S. I., Tae, H., Settlage, R. E., Boore, J. L., & Posewitz, M. C. (2012). Draft genome sequence and genetic transformation of the oleaginous alga Nannochloropsis gaditana. Nature Communications, 3, 686.
- Rezanka, T., Petránková, M., Cepák, V., Přibyl, P., Sigler, K., & Cajthaml, T. (2010). *Trachydiscus minutus*, a new biotechnological source of eicosapentaenoic acid. *Folia Microbiologica*, 55, 265–269.

- Řezanka, T., Lukavský, J., Nedbalová, L., & Sigler, K. (2011). Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus starvation on the polyunsaturated triacylglycerol composition, including positional isomer distribution, in the alga *Trachydiscus minutus*. *Phytochemistry*, 72, 2342–2351.
- Řezanka, T., Lukavský, J., Nedbalová, L., & Sigler, K. (2014). Production of structured triacylglycerols from microalgae. *Phytochemistry*, 104, 95–104.
- Ryther, J. H. (1954). The ecology of phytoplankton blooms in Moriches Bay and Great South Bay, Long Island, New York. *Biological Bulletin*, 106, 198–209.
- Santos, L. M. A. (1996). The Eustigmatophyceae: Actual knowledge and research perspectives. Nova Hedwigia (Beiheft), 112, 391–405.
- Santos, L. M. A., & Leedale, G. F. (1991). Vischeria stellata (Eustigmatophyceae): Ultrastructure of the zoospores, with special reference to the flagellar apparatus. Protoplasma, 164, 160–167.
- Santos, L. M. A., & Leedale, G. F. (1992). First report of a Golgi body in a uniflagellate eustigmatophycean zoospore. *Phycologia*, 31, 119–124.
- Santos, L. M. A., & Leedale, G. F. (1995). Some notes on the ultrastructure of small azoosporic members of the algal class Eustigmatophyceae. Nova Hedwigia, 60, 219–225.
- Santos, L. M. A., & Santos, M. F. (2001). Reclassification of some Xanthophycean species. *Phycologia*, 40(Supplemental issue sp4), 74.
- Santos, L. M. A., & Santos, M. F. (2004). The Coimbra Collection of Algae (ACOI). Nova Hedwigia, 79, 39–47.
- Santos, L. M. A., Melkonian, M., & Kreimer, G. (1996). A combined reflection confocal laser scanning, electron and fluorescence microscopy analysis of the eyespot in zoospores of *Vischeria* spp. (Eustigmatales, Eustigmatophyceae). *Phycologia*, 35, 299–307.
- Schlösser, U. G. (1994). SAG-Sammlung von Algenkulturen at the University of Göttingen Catalogue of strains. *Botanica Acta*, 107, 113–186.
- Schnepf, E., Niemann, A., & Wilhelm, C. (1996). Pseudostaurastrum limneticum, a eustigmatophycean alga with astigmatic zoospores: Morphogenesis, fine structure, pigment composition and taxonomy. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 146, 237–249.
- Scholz, M. J., Weiss, T. L., Jinkerson, R. E., Jing, J., Roth, R., Goodenough, U., Posewitz, M. C., & Gerken, H. G. (2014). Ultrastructure and composition of the *Nannochloropsis gaditana* cell wall. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 13, 1450–1464.
- Ševčíková, T., Horák, A., Klimeš, V., Zbránková, V., Demir-Hilton, E., Sudek, S., Jenkins, J., Schmutz, J., Přibyl, P., Fousek, J., Vlček, Č., Lang, B. F., Oborník, M., Worden, A. Z., & Eliáš, M. (2015). Updating algal evolutionary relationships through plastid genome sequencing: Did alveolate plastids emerge through endosymbiosis of an ochrophyte? *Scientific Reports, 5*, 10134.
- Ševčíková, T., Zbránková, Z., Klimeš, V., Strnad, H., Hroudová, M., Vlček, Č., & Eliáš, M. (2016). A comparative analysis of mitochondrial genomes in eustigmatophyte algae. *Genome Biology* and Evolution, 8, 705–722.
- Simionato, D., Sforza, E., Carpinelli, E. C., Bertucco, A., Giacometti, G. M., & Morosinotto, T. (2011). Acclimation of *Nannochloropsis gaditana* to different illumination regimes: Effects on lipids accumulation. *Bioresource Technology*, 102, 6026–6032.
- Starkenburg, S. R., Kwon, K. J., Jha, R. K., McKay, C., Jacobs, M., Chertkov, O., Twary, S., Rocap, G., & Cattolico, R. A. (2014). A pangenomic analysis of the *Nannochloropsis* organellar genomes reveals novel genetic variations in key metabolic genes. *BMC Genomics*, 15, 212.
- Suda, S., Atsumi, M., & Miyashita, H. (2002). Taxonomic characterization of a marine Nannochloropsis species, N. oceanica sp. nov. (Eustigmatophyceae). Phycologia, 41, 273–279.
- Suen, Y., Hubbard, J. S., Holzer, G., & Tornabene, T. G. (1987). Total lipid production of the green alga Nannochloropsis sp. Q II under different nitrogen regimes. Journal of Phycology, 23, 289–296.
- Sukenik, A. (1991). Ecophysiological considerations in the optimization of eicosapentaenoic acid production by *Nannochloropsis* sp. (Eustigmatophyceae). *Bioresource Technology*, 35, 263–269.

- Sukenik, A., Livne, A., Apt, K. E., & Grossman, A. R. (2000). Characterisation of a gene encoding the light-harvesting violaxanthin-chlorophyll protein of *Nannochloropsis sp.* (Eustigmatophyceae). *Journal of Phycology*, 36, 563–570.
- Thiriet-Rupert, S., Carrier, G., Chénais, B., Trottier, C., Bougaran, G., Cadoret, J. P., Schoefs, B., & Saint-Jean, B. (2016). Transcription factors in microalgae: Genome-wide prediction and comparative analysis. *BMC Genomics*, 17, 282.
- Trzcińska, M., Pawlik-Skowrońska, B., Krokowski, D., & Watanabe, S. (2014). Genetic and morphological characteristics of two ecotypes of *Eustigmatos calaminaris* sp. nov. (Eustigmatophyceae) inhabiting Zn– and Pb–loaded calamine mine spoils. *Fottea*, 14, 1–13.
- Upadhyay, A. K., Singh, N. K., Singh, R., & Rai, U. N. (2016). Amelioration of arsenic toxicity in rice: Comparative effect of inoculation of *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Nannochloropsis* sp. on growth, biochemical changes and arsenic uptake. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 124, 68–73.
- Vieler, A., Wu, G., Tsai, C. H., Bullard, B., Cornish, A. J., Harvey, C., Reca, I. B., Thornburg, C., Achawanantakun, R., Buehl, C. J., Campbell, M. S., Cavalier, D., Childs, K. L., Clark, T. J., Deshpande, R., Erickson, E., Ferguson, A. A., Handee, W., Kong, Q., Li, X., Liu, B., Lundback, S., Peng, C., Roston, R. L., Sanjaya, Simpson, J. P., Terbush, A., Warakanont, J., Zäuner, S., Farre, E. M., Hegg, E. L., Jiang, N., Kuo, M. H., Lu, Y., Niyogi, K. K., Ohlrogge, J., Osteryoung, K. W., Shachar-Hill, Y., Sears, B. B., Sun, Y., Takahashi, H., Yandell, M., Shiu, S. H., & Benning, C. (2012a). Genome, functional gene annotation, and nuclear transformation of the heterokont oleaginous alga *Nannochloropsis oceanica* CCMP1779. *PLoS Genetics, 8*, e1003064.
- Vieler, A., Brubaker, S. B., Vick, B., & Benning, C. (2012b). A lipid droplet protein of *Nannochloropsis* with functions partially analogous to plant oleosins. *Plant Physiology*, 158, 1562–1569.
- Vischer, W. (1945). Heterokonten aus Alpinen Boden, Speziell dem Schweiserischen Nationalpark. Ergebnisse der wissenschaftlichen Untersuchung der Schweizerischen Nationalparks, 1, 481–510.
- Volkman, J. K., Brown, M. R., Dunstan, G. A., & Jeffrey, S. W. (1993). The biochemical composition of marine microalgae from the class Eustigmatophyceae. *Journal of Phycology*, 29, 69–78.
- Volkman, J. K., Barrett, S. M., & Blackburn, S. I. (1999). Fatty acids and hydroxy fatty acids in three species of freshwater eustigmatophytes. *Journal of Phycology*, 35, 1005–1012.
- Wang, D., Ning, K., Li, J., Hu, J., Han, D., Wang, H., Zeng, X., Jing, X., Zhou, Q., Su, X., Chang, X., Wang, A., Wang, W., Jia, J., Wei, L., Xin, Y., Qiao, Y., Huang, R., Chen, J., Han, B., Yoon, K., Hill, R. T., Zohar, Y., Chen, F., Hu, Q., & Xu, J. (2014). *Nannochloropsis* genomes reveal evolution of microalgal oleaginous traits. *PLoS Genetics*, 10, e1004094.
- Wang, Q., Lu, Y., Xin, Y., Wei, L., Huang, S., & Xu, J. (2016). Genome editing of model oleaginous microalgae *Nannochloropsis* spp. by CRISPR/Cas9. *The Plant Journal*, 88, 1071–1081.
- Wei, L., Xin, Y., Wang, D., Jing, X., Zhou, Q., Su, X., Jia, J., Ning, K., Chen, F., Hu, Q., & Xu, J. (2013). *Nannochloropsis* plastid and mitochondrial phylogenomes reveal organelle diversification mechanism and intragenus phylotyping strategy in microalgae. *BMC Genomics*, 14, 534.
- Whittle, S. J., & Casselton, P. J. (1969). The chloroplast pigments of some green and yellowgreen algae. British Phycological Journal, 4, 55–64.
- Whittle, S. J., & Casselton, P. J. (1975a). The chloroplast pigments of the algal classes Eustigmatophyceae and Xanthophyceae. I. Eustigmatophyceae. *British Phycological Journal*, 10, 179–191.
- Whittle, S. J., & Casselton, P. J. (1975b). The chloroplast pigments of the algal classes Eustigmatophyceae and Xanthophyceae. II. Xanthophyceae. British Phycological Journal, 10, 192–204.
- Wujek, D. E. (2012). Biomineralization on the stalk of the eustigmatophyte *Pseudocharaciopsis* (Eustigmatophyceae). *Algae*, 27, 135–137.

- Xiao, Y., Zhang, J., Cui, J., Yao, X., Suna, Z., Feng, Y., & Cui, Q. (2015). Simultaneous accumulation of neutral lipids and biomass in *Nannochloropsis oceanica* IMET1 under high light intensity and nitrogen replete conditions. *Algal Research*, 11, 55–62.
- Yang, E. C., Boo, G. H., Kim, H. J., Cho, S. M., Boo, S. M., Andersen, R. A., & Yoon, H. S. (2012). Supermatrix data highlight the phylogenetic relationships of photosynthetic stramenopiles. *Protist*, 163, 217–231.
- Yurchenko, T., Ševčíková, T., Strnad, H., Butenko, A., & Eliáš, M. (2016). The plastid genome of some eustigmatophyte algae harbours a bacteria-derived six-gene cluster for biosynthesis of a novel secondary metabolite. *Open Biology*, 6, 160249.
- Zhang, J. J., Wan, L. L., Xia, S., Li, A. F., & Zhang, C. W. (2013). Morphological and spectrometric analyses of lipids accumulation in a novel oleaginous microalga, *Eustigmatos cf. polyphem* (Eustigmatophyceae). *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, 36, 1125–1130.
- Zhang, X., Kan, J., Wang, J., Gu, H., Hu, J., Zhao, Y., & Sun, J. (2015). First record of a large-scale bloom-causing species *Nannochloropsis granulata* (Monodopsidaceae, Eustigmatophyceae) in China Sea waters. *Ecotoxicology*, 24, 1430–1441.
- Zou, N., Zhang, C. W., Cohen, Z., & Richmond, A. (2000). Production of cell mass and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in ultrahigh cell density cultures of *Nannochloropsis* sp. (Eustigmatophyceae). *European Journal of Phycology*, 35, 127–133.